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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained herein constitutedaivooking statements as such term is definederti®n 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Sectiond®1bke Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendentward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performambey represent our intentions, plans, expectatand beliefs and are
subject to numerous assumptions, risks and unoggsi Our future results, financial condition amasiness may differ
materially from those expressed in these forwaokilog statements. You can find many of these statgs by looking for
words such as “approximates,” “believes,” “expéctanticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” “plans,would,” “may” or other
similar expressions in this Annual Report on FordaKL We also note the following forward-lookingaggments: in the
case of our development projects, the estimategl=iion date, estimated project costs and costetaplete; and estimates
of dividends on shares of our common stock. Mahthe factors that will determine the outcome ol and our other
forward-looking statements are beyond our abildycontrol or predict. For a further discussionfaétors that could
materially affect the outcome of our forward-lookistatements, see “ltem 1A - Risk Factors” in thimual Report on
Form 10-K.

For these statements, we claim the protection efsdfe harbor for forward-looking statements caowtdiin the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You arautioned not to place undue reliance on our faivl@oking statements,
which speak only as of the date of this Annual Repo Form 10-K or the date of any document incoaped by reference.
All subsequent written and oral forward-lookingtstaents attributable to us or any person actingwrbehalf are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statnts contained or referred to in this section. ddenot undertake any
obligation to release publicly, any revisions ta fmrward-looking statements to reflect events iocuonstances occurring
after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

Alexander’s, Inc. (NYSE: ALX) is a real estate istrment trust (“REIT”) incorporated in Delaware, aggd in leasing,
managing, developing and redeveloping its propertiall references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Companyénd “Alexander’s”
refer to Alexander’s, Inc. and its consolidatedssdiaries. We are managed by, and our propernteteased and developed
by, Vornado Realty Trust (“Vornado”) (NYSE: VNO).

We have six properties in the greater New York @istropolitan area consisting of:

Operating properties

* 731 Lexington Avenue, a 1,307,000 square foot rusié building, comprising the entire square blocurized by
Lexington Avenue, East #9Street, Third Avenue and East™58treet in Manhattan. The building contains
885,000 and 174,000 of net rentable square fegffioé and retail space, respectively, which we pamd 248,000
square feet of residential space consisting of tOBdominium units, which we sold. Bloomberg L.P.
(“Bloomberg”) occupies all of the office space. eThlome Depot (83,000 square feet), The Containere St
(34,000 square feet) and Hennes & Mauritz (27,0Q@= feet) are the principal retail tenants;

« Rego Park |, a 343,000 square foot shopping celotated on Queens Boulevard and 6®ad in Queens. The
center is anchored by a 195,000 square foot Sepestthent store, a 50,000 square foot Burlingtoat €actory, a
46,000 square foot Bed Bath & Beyond and a 36,00are foot Marshalls;

* Rego Park Il, a 609,000 square foot shopping celoieated adjacent to the Rego Park | shoppingecémiQueens.
The center is anchored by a 145,000 square fodc@os 135,000 square foot Century 21 and a 13360@re
foot Kohl's. In addition, 47,000 square feet iaded to Toys “R” Us/Babies “R” Us, a one-third odradfiliate of
Vornado;

» Paramus, located at the intersection of Routesil4ld@rin Paramus, New Jersey, consists of 30.3 afiasd that
is leased to IKEA Property, Inc.; and

* Flushing, a 167,000 square foot building, locatel@sevelt Avenue and Main Street in Queens jshaib-leased
to New World Mall LLC for the remainder of our grmdilease term.

Property under development

* Rego Park Il Apartment Tower; We are in the proagfssonstructing an apartment tower above our Régo
shopping center, containing 312 units aggregatbyy@O0 square feet, which is expected to be coeghiet2015.
The estimated cost of this project is approxima$il25,000,000, of which $73,327,000 has been iaduas of
December 31, 2014. There can be no assurancéhéhatoject will be completed, or completed on scite or
within budget.

Property to be developed

* Rego Park Ill, a 3.2 acre land parcel adjacenhéoRego Park Il shopping center in Queens at tieesection of
Junction Boulevard and the Horace Harding ServizadR

Relationship with Vornado

We are managed by, and our properties are leastdeareloped by, Vornado, pursuant to agreementshadmpire in
March of each year and are automatically renewatMernado is a fully-integrated REIT with significaexperience in
managing, leasing, developing, and operating ratail office properties.

At December 31, 2014, Vornado owned 32.4% of oustanding common stock. Steven Roth is the Chairofeour
Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, tlanaging General Partner of Interstate Prope(tieterstate”), a New
Jersey general partnership, and the Chairman ofBtherd of Trustees and Chief Executive Officer afrhvado. At
December 31, 2014, Mr. Roth, Interstate and itemotivo general partners, David Mandelbaum and RuBs&Vight, Jr.
(who are also directors of the Company and trusté®ornado) owned, in the aggregate, 26.3% ofauistanding common
stock, in addition to the 2.1% they indirectly owrough Vornado. Joseph Macnow, our Executive \Rcesident and
Chief Financial Officer, is the Executive Vice Hdent — Finance and Chief Administrative Officendrnado. Stephen W.
Theriot, our Assistant Treasurer, is the Chief Raial Officer of Vornado.



Significant Tenants

Bloomberg accounted for $91,109,000, $88,164,0@D%86,468,000, or 45% of our total revenues in azfdhe years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respactig other tenant accounted for more than 10%uoftotal revenues
in any of the last three years. If we were to IB&@omberg as a tenant, or if Bloomberg were tbdaibecome unable to
perform its obligations under its lease, it wouttversely affect our results of operations and fai@ncondition. We receive
and evaluate certain confidential financial infotima and metrics from Bloomberg on a semi-annuaidaln addition, we
access and evaluate financial information regarBile@mberg from private sources, as well as pupliciailable data.

In October 2014, Bloomberg exercised its optionekbend leases that were scheduled to expire in rbieee 2015
covering 188,608 square feet of office space a78urLexington Avenue property for a term of 5 yeawe are currently in
negotiations with Bloomberg to determine the rerd#e for the extension period.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environment.| &f our properties are located in the greater Néavk City
metropolitan area. We compete with a large nuroberoperty owners and developers. Principal fiasctd competition are
the amount of rent charged, attractiveness of locaand quality and breadth of services provid€ur success depends
upon, among other factors, trends of the worldionat and local economies, the financial condit@o operating results of
current and prospective tenants and customersuaiability and cost of capital, construction ameovation costs, taxes,
governmental regulations, legislation, populati@ntls, zoning laws, and our ability to lease, sad#eor sell our properties,
at profitable levels. Our success is also sultgeour ability to refinance existing debt on acedy terms as it comes due.

Employees

We currently have 68 employees.

Executive Office

Our executive office is located at 210 Route 4 Haatamus, New Jersey, 07652 and our telephonearumfR01) 587-
8541.

Available Information

Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, QuartéRgports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form &id
amendments to those reports, as well as Repoff®ons 3, 4 and 5 regarding officers, directors, B beneficial owners
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a), 15¢d)16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, available free of
charge on our website (www.alx-inc.com) as soorressonably practicable after they are electronjcfiléd with, or
furnished to, the Securities and Exchange CommisgiSEC”). Also available on our website are caped our Audit
Committee Charter, Compensation Committee Cha@ede of Business Conduct and Ethics and Corporatee@ance
Guidelines. In the event of any changes to thieses, revised copies will be made available orvelysite. Copies of these
documents are also available directly from us, @feeharge.

On April 11, 2000, Vornado and Interstate filedlwihe SEC, the #6amendment to a Form 13D indicating that they, as
a group, own in excess of 51% of our common stodkis ownership level makes us a “controlled” compdor the
purposes of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc.’spBoate Governance Standards (the “NYSE Rules”)is Treans that
we are not required to, among other things, hamajarity of the members of our Board of Directoesibdependent under
the NYSE Rules, have all of the members of our Gemsption Committee be independent under the NY S&sRu to have
a Nominating Committee. While we have voluntaglymplied with a majority of the independence reguients of the
NYSE Rules, we are under no obligation to do sothiwdsituation may change at anytime.



ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Material factors that may adversely affect our bass and operations are summarized below. The @&sid
uncertainties described herein may not be the omés we face. Additional risks and uncertaintigispmesently known to us
or that we currently believe to be immaterial madgoaadversely affect our business. See “Forwardking Statements”
contained herein on page 3.

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS’ VALUE AND INCOME FLUCTUATE DUE TO VARIOUS FACTORS.

The value of real estate fluctuates depending awlitions in the general economy and the real eftasiness. These
conditions may also adversely impact our revenuaescash flows.

The factors that affect the value of our real esitatlude, among other things:

» global, national, regional and local economic ctiads;

« competition from other available space;

» local conditions such as an oversupply of spacereduction in demand for real estate in the area;

* how well we manage our properties;

» changes in market rental rates;

« the timing and costs associated with property impneents and rentals;

« whether we are able to pass all or portions ofinogeases in operating costs through to tenants;

» changes in real estate taxes and other expenses;

» whether tenants and users such as customers apgesh@onsider a property attractive;

» the financial condition of our tenants, includiing textent of tenant bankruptcies or defaults;

» availability of financing on acceptable terms oabit

» inflation or deflation;

» fluctuations in interest rates;

* our ability to obtain adequate insurance;

» changes in zoning laws and taxation;

* government regulation;

» consequences of any armed conflict involving, amtést attack against, the United States or irdlial acts of
violence in public spaces, including retail centers

» potential liability under environmental or othewkor regulations;

* natural disasters;

» general competitive factors; and

» climate changes.

The rents we receive and the occupancy levels mpmperties may decline as a result of adversegdg®gmin any of
these factors. If our rental revenues and/or cacayp levels decline, we generally would expectaaehless cash available
to pay our indebtedness and for distribution to stackholders. In addition, some of our major egms, including
mortgage payments, real estate taxes and maintegasts generally do not decline when the relaatsrdecline.

Capital markets and economic conditions can matdsiaaffect our liquidity, financial condition and esults of
operations, as well as the value of our debt andiggsecurities.

There are many factors that can affect the valueunfequity securities and any debt securities veg msue in the
future, including the state of the capital marlkaid economy. Demand for office and retail space de&line nationwide as
it did in 2008 and 2009, due to the economic downtbankruptcies, downsizing, layoffs and costingtt Government
action or inaction may adversely affect the stdtthe capital markets. The cost and availabilitcedit may be adversely
affected by illiquid credit markets and wider ctedpreads may adversely affect our liquidity anuaficial condition,
including our results of operations, and the lidfyidnd financial condition of our tenants. Oualiility or the inability of
our tenants to timely refinance maturing liabiktiand access the capital markets to meet liquithigds may materially
affect our financial condition and results of ofiEnas and the value of our equity securities ang @dabt securities we may
issue in the future.



We are subject to risks that affect the general addw York City retail environments.

Certain of our properties are New York City retabperties. As such, these properties are affdntetle general and New
York City retail environments, including the levafl consumer spending and consumer confidence, uogment rates, the
threat of terrorism and increasing competition frdistount retailers, outlet malls, retail websaes catalog companies. These
factors could adversely affect the financial capditof our retail tenants and the willingness dailers to lease space in our
retail locations.

Real estate is a competitive business.

We compete with a large number of property owneis @developers, some of which may be willing to atdewer
returns on their investments than we are. Prihdguors of competition include rents chargedraativeness of location,
the quality of the property and breadth and qualityservices provided. Our success depends upoong other factors,
trends of the global, national and local economiies,financial condition and operating results ofrent and prospective
tenants and customers, the availability and costpftal, construction and renovation costs, tagesernmental regulations,
legislation, population and employment trends, mgnliaws and our ability to lease, sublease or aetl properties, at
profitable levels.

We depend on leasing space to tenants on econolfyi€@alorable terms and collecting rent from tenanigo may not be
able to pay.

Our financial results depend significantly on legsspace in our properties to tenants on econolyifzalorable terms.
In addition, because a majority of our income isivé& from renting real property, our income, furalgilable to pay
indebtedness and funds available for distributmistockholders will decrease if certain of our t#eacannot pay their rent
or if we are not able to maintain our occupancyelewn favorable terms. If a tenant does not payeint, we might not be
able to enforce our rights as landlord without geland might incur substantial legal and othersodburing periods of
economic adversity, there may be an increase imtimeber of tenants that cannot pay their rent antherease in vacancy
rates.

Bankruptcy or insolvency of tenants may decrease myenues, net income and available cash.

From time to time, some of our tenants have degdlhenkruptcy, and other tenants may declare batdyrigyr become
insolvent in the future. The bankruptcy or insolee of a major tenant could cause us to have difficleasing the
remainder of the affected property. Our leaseg@gly do not contain restrictions designed to emshie creditworthiness of
our tenants. As a result, the bankruptcy or insady of a major tenant could result in a lower leofenet income and funds
available to pay our indebtedness or make disfohatto stockholders.

731 Lexington Avenue accounts for a substantial pon of our revenues. Loss of or damage to thelbing would
adversely affect our financial condition and resalbf operations.

731 Lexington Avenue accounted for $133,024,00@28%45,000 and $126,034,000, or 66% of our totaémaes in
each of the years ended December 31, 2014, 201 3R] respectively. Loss of or damage to thedingl in excess of our
insurance coverage, including as a result of atistrattack, would adversely affect our resultopérations and financial
condition.

Bloomberg represents a significant portion of ouevenues. Loss of Bloomberg as a tenant or detation in
Bloomberg's credit quality could adversely affeairdinancial condition and results of operations.

Bloomberg accounted for $91,109,000, $88,164,0@D%86,468,000, or 45% of our total revenues in exddhe years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respactig other tenant accounted for more than 10%uoftotal revenues
in any of the last three years. If we were to IB&@omberg as a tenant, or if Bloomberg were tbdaibecome unable to
perform its obligations under its lease, it woultversely affect our results of operations and famrancondition.

We face risks associated with our tenants beingigiested “Prohibited Persons” by the Office of Forgn Assets
Control and similar requirements.

Pursuant to Executive Order 13224 and other laves(iffice of Foreign Assets Control of the Unitadt8s Department
of the Treasury (“OFAC”) maintains a list of persodesignated as terrorists or who are otherwisekbbb or banned
(“Prohibited Persons”) from conducting businessengaging in transactions in the United States aeceby restricts our
doing business with such persons. Our leases, Bath®ther agreements may require us to comply @HAC and related
requirements. If a tenant or other party with whem conduct business is placed on the OFAC liss atherwise a party
with which we are prohibited from doing business, mvay be required to terminate the lease or otfperement. Any such
termination could result in a loss of revenue treowvise negatively affect our financial results aadh flows.



Our business and operations would suffer in the eivef system failures.

Despite system redundancy, the implementation @irily measures and the existence of a disasteweeg plan for our
internal information technology systems, our systeare vulnerable to damages from any number ofcssurincluding
computer viruses, unauthorized access, energy dlésknatural disasters, terrorism, war and telesonication failures.
Any system failure or accident that causes intgiong in our operations could result in a matediafuption to our business.
We may also incur additional costs to remedy damagesed by such disruptions.

The occurrence of cyber incidents, or a deficieninyour cybersecurity, could negatively impact ounginess by causing
a disruption to our operations, a compromise or agotion of our confidential information, and/or darage to our
business relationships, all of which could negatiyémpact our financial results.

A cyber incident is considered to be any adver@anethat threatens the confidentiality, integrity,availability of our
information resources. More specifically, a cyhaeident is an intentional attack or an unintentiengent that can include
gaining unauthorized access to systems to disnog@tabions, corrupt data, or steal confidential infation. As our reliance
on technology has increased, so have the riskslgoseur systems, both internal and those we hatgarced. Our primary
risks that could directly result from the occurrerad a cyber incident are theft of assets, opearatimterruption, damage to
our relationship with our tenants, and private datposure. We have implemented processes, prazedimd controls to
help mitigate these risks, but these measures, allsas our increased awareness of a risk of a cyimdent, do not
guarantee that our financial results will not bgatéevely impacted by such an incident.

We may incur significant costs to comply with ersiimental laws and environmental contamination maypair our
ability to lease and/or sell real estate.

Our operations and properties are subject to variederal, state and local laws and regulationsceming the
protection of the environment including air and evaquality, hazardous or toxic substances and lhealt safety. Under
some environmental laws, a current or previous owneperator of real estate may be required testigate and clean up
hazardous or toxic substances released at a pyopEne owner or operator may also be held liable governmental entity
or to third parties for property damage or persomalries and for investigation and clean-up castsirred by those parties
because of the contamination. These laws oftesafiability without regard to whether the owneoperator knew of the
release of the substances or caused such rel@dme presence of contamination or the failure toewiate contamination
may impair our ability to sell or lease real estatdéo borrow using the real estate as collate@ther laws and regulations
govern indoor and outdoor air quality including ghothat can require the abatement or removal odfshsb-containing
materials in the event of damage, demolition, ration or remodeling and also govern emissions af exposure to
asbestos fibers in the air. The maintenance ambval of lead paint and certain electrical equipmeantaining
polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are also reguldtgdederal and state laws. We are also subjedsks associated with
human exposure to chemical or biological contantmaunch as molds, pollens, viruses and bacterighylaibove certain
levels, can be alleged to be connected to allaygimther health effects and symptoms in suscepiilolviduals. We could
incur fines for environmental compliance and bedHe&lble for the costs of remedial action with respto the foregoing
regulated substances or related claims arisingobutnvironmental contamination or human exposurerafrom our
properties.

Each of our properties has been subjected to vargegrees of environmental assessment at varimesti To date,
these environmental assessments have not revealeckravironmental condition material to our businesslowever,
identification of new compliance concerns or undisered areas of contamination, changes in the eatelknown scope of
contamination, human exposure to contamination lmanges in cleanup or compliance requirements coeddlt in
significant costs to us.

In addition, we may become subject to costs ordage increases therein, associated with natusmluree or energy
usage (such as a “carbon tax”). These costs esteauld increase our operating costs and dectieasash available to pay
our obligations or distribute to equity holders.



Some of our potential losses may not be coverethbyrance.

We maintain general liability insurance with lima§$300,000,000 per occurrence and all-risk priypend rental value
insurance coverage with limits of $1.7 billion pmrcurrence, including coverage for acts of terrorisvith sub-limits for
certain perils such as floods and earthquakes cim @zour properties.

Fifty Ninth Street Insurance Company, LLC (“FNSIC®ur wholly owned consolidated subsidiary, actsaadirect
insurer for coverage for acts of terrorism, inchglhuclear, biological, chemical and radiologicAlIECR”) acts, as defined
by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program ReauthtioizaAct, which expires in December 2020. Coverégeacts of
terrorism (including NBCR acts) is up to $1.7 loilli per occurrence and in the aggregate. Coveragacts of terrorism
(excluding NBCR acts) is fully reinsured by thirdrfy insurance companies with no exposure to FNS¥6t NBCR acts,
FNSIC is responsible for a $275,000 deductible Hbtb of the balance (16% effective January 1, 2@f&) covered loss,
and the Federal government is responsible forgheming 85% (84% effective January 1, 2016) obeeced loss. We are
ultimately responsible for any loss incurred by FGLS

We continue to monitor the state of the insurane@eket and the scope and costs of coverage forcddisrrorism.
However, we cannot anticipate what coverage willalailable on commercially reasonable terms infthare. We are
responsible for deductibles and losses in excessrahsurance coverage, which could be material.

Our mortgage loans are non-recourse to us, exoef75,000,000 of the $320,000,000 mortgage ometzal portion of
our 731 Lexington Avenue property, in the evena glubstantial casualty, as defined. Our mortgagesl contain customary
covenants requiring us to maintain insurance. Altth we believe that we have adequate insurancerage for purposes of
these agreements, we may not be able to obtaiguEnadent amount of coverage at reasonable codteifuture. If lenders
insist on greater coverage than we are able toimgbitacould adversely affect our ability to finanor refinance our
properties.

Compliance or failure to comply with the Americangith Disabilities Act or other safety regulationsd requirements
could result in substantial costs.

The Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA”) genetglrequires that public buildings, including ouroperties, meet
certain federal requirements related to accesauiaady disabled persons. Noncompliance couldtrestihe imposition of
fines by the federal government or the award of atgas to private litigants and/or legal fees tortheunsel. If, under the
ADA, we are required to make substantial alteratiand capital expenditures in one or more of oapeities, including the
removal of access barriers, it could adverselycafier financial condition and results of operasioas well as the amount of
cash available for distribution to stockholders.

Our properties are subject to various federalesaad local regulatory requirements, such as ataddocal fire and life
safety requirements. If we fail to comply with skerequirements, we could incur fines or privatmalge awards. We do
not know whether existing requirements will chamgavhether compliance with future requirements wabjuire significant
unanticipated expenditures that will affect ourtciew and results of operations.

We depend upon anchor tenants to attract shoppéersua Rego Park | and Il retail properties.

Our Rego Park | and Il retail properties are anetidsy well-known department stores and other tsnahib generate
shopping traffic. The value of these propertiesiiide adversely affected if our anchor tenantedaio meet their contractual
obligations, sought concessions in order to coetimperations or ceased their operations, incluaéng result of bankruptcy. If
the sales of stores operating in our propertieg wedecline significantly due to economic condiipclosing of anchors or for
other reasons, tenants may be unable to pay theimom rents or expense recovery charges. In Yieateof a default by a
tenant or anchor, we may experience delays and toshforcing our rights as landlord.



OUR INVESTMENTS ARE CONCENTRATED IN THE GREATER NEW YORK CITY METROPOLITAN AREA.
CIRCUMSTANCES AFFECTING THIS AREA GENERALLY COULD A DVERSELY AFFECT OUR BUSINESS.

All of our properties are in the greater New Yorkit€ metropolitan area and are affected by the ecorio cycles and
risks inherent in that area.

All of our revenues come from properties locatedhia greater New York City metropolitan area. Resthte markets
are subject to economic downturns and we cannatigir@ow economic conditions will impact this matrke either the
short- or long-term. Declines in the economy oclides in the real estate market in this area céwid our financial
performance and the value of our properties. Mhitanh to the factors affecting the national ecomaondition generally,
the factors affecting economic conditions in thisaainclude:

« financial performance and productivity of the medidvertising, financial, technology, retail, insnce and real
estate industries;

e unemployment levels;

» business layoffs or downsizing;

e industry slowdowns;

» relocations of businesses;

» changing demographics;

* increased telecommuting and use of alternative \ptakes;

» infrastructure quality; and

» any oversupply of, or reduced demand for, reatesta

It is impossible for us to assess the future effedttrends in the economic and investment climafate greater New
York City metropolitan region, and more generalfyitee United States, on the real estate markdtignarea. Local, national
or global economic downturns, would negatively eiffeur business and profitability.

Terrorist attacks, such as those of September T)2in New York City, may adversely affect the vabf our properties
and our ability to generate cash flow.

All of our properties are located in the greatemNéork City metropolitan area, and our most sigrdfit property, 731
Lexington Avenue, is located on Lexington Avenuel &8" Street in Manhattan. In the aftermath of a téstoattack,
tenants in this area may choose to relocate thsinbsses to less populated, lower-profile aredlseotnited States that are
not as likely to be targets of future terroristieity and fewer customers may choose to patronizeinesses in this area.
This would trigger a decrease in the demand focsjrmthese markets, which could increase vacaitiesr properties and
force us to lease our properties on less favorias. As a result, the value of our properties thue level of our revenues
could decline materially.

Natural Disasters could have a concentrated impact the area which we operate and could adverselypatt our
results.

Our investments are in the New York metropolitaeaaand since they are concentrated along the BaStaboard,
natural disasters, including hurricanes, could ichmaur properties. Potentially adverse consequenééglobal warming”
could similarly have an impact on our propertigss a result, we could become subject to signifidaases and/or repair
costs which may or may not be fully covered by rasge and to the risk of business interruptione irturrence of these
losses, costs or business interruptions may adyeaffect our operating and financial results.
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WE MAY ACQUIRE OR SELL ASSETS OR DEVELOP PROPERTIES. OUR FAILURE OR INABILITY TO
CONSUMMATE THESE TRANSACTIONS OR MANAGE THESE TRANS ACTIONS COULD ADVERSELY
AFFECT OUR OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL RESULTS.

We may acquire or develop properties and this megate risks, including failing to complete such agties on time or
within budget, competition for such activities thatould increase our costs, being unable to leaseviyeacquired,
developed or redeveloped properties at rents sefficto cover our costs, difficulties in integratinacquisitions and
weaker than expected performance.

Although our stated business strategy is not taagegn acquisitions, we may acquire or develop @tigs when we
believe that an acquisition or development projectherwise consistent with our business straté@g may not, however,
succeed in consummating desired acquisitions ooinpleting developments on time or within budgetaddition, we may
face competition in pursuing acquisition or devehgmt opportunities that could increase our co¥ten we do pursue a
project or acquisition, we may not succeed in legsiewly-developed, redeveloped or acquired progeedt rents sufficient
to cover costs of acquisition, development or retlgyment and operations. Difficulties in integngtiacquisitions may
prove costly or time-consuming and could divert aggment’s attention. Acquisitions or developmémtsew markets or
types of properties where we do not have the sawel lof market knowledge may result in weaker tlaaticipated
performance. We may abandon acquisition or devedrp opportunities that we have begun pursuingcandequently fail
to recover expenses already incurred and have eigvoanagement time to a matter not consummated.

It may be difficult to buy and sell real estate glly, which may limit our flexibility.

Real estate investments are relatively difficultotoy and sell quickly. Consequently, we may haretéd ability to
vary our portfolio promptly in response to changegconomic or other conditions. Moreover, ourigbto buy, sell, or
finance real estate assets may be adversely affelttdng periods of uncertainty or unfavorable dtods in the credit
markets as we, or potential buyers of our assety,ewrperience difficulty in obtaining financing.

We have an investment in marketable equity secesti The value of this investment may decline.

We have an investment in Macerich, a retail shogppenter company. As of December 31, 2014, thisstment had a
carrying amount of $44,646,000. A significant deelin the value of this investment due to, amorigeio reasons,
Macerich’s operating performance or economic orketaconditions, may result in the recognition ofienpairment loss,
which could be material.

OUR ORGANIZATIONAL AND FINANCIAL STRUCTURE GIVES RI SE TO OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL
RISKS.

Substantially all of our assets are owned by suimmigés. We depend on dividends and distributiomsnfi these
subsidiaries. The creditors of these subsidiaregs entitled to amounts payable to them by the sdibsies before the
subsidiaries may pay any dividends or distributidnsus.

Substantially all of our properties and assetshald through our subsidiaries. We depend on céshaitions and
dividends from our subsidiaries for substantiallyaf our cash flow. The creditors of each of alirect and indirect
subsidiaries are entitled to payment of that sussits obligations to them when due and payableteethat subsidiary may
make distributions or dividends to us. Thus, obility to pay dividends, if any, to our security ltiers depends on our
subsidiaries’ ability to first satisfy their obliiens to their creditors and our ability to satisfyr obligations, if any, to our
creditors.

In addition, our participation in any distributiaf the assets of any of our direct or indirect #dibsies upon the
liquidation, reorganization or insolvency of thésidgliary, is only after the claims of the creditdrgluding trade creditors,
and preferred security holders, if any, of the ayale direct or indirect subsidiaries are satisfie

Our existing financing documents contain covenarasid restrictions that may restrict our operationaind financial
flexibility.

At December 31, 2014, substantially all of the widiial properties we own were encumbered by modagagThese
mortgages contain covenants that limit our abildgyincur additional indebtedness on these properpeovide for lender
approval of tenants’ leases in certain circumstanaed provide for yield maintenance or defeasgmemiums to prepay
them. These mortgages may significantly restrigt aperational and financial flexibility. In aduib, if we were to fail to
perform our obligations under existing indebtednes®ecome insolvent or were liquidated, secureatlitors would be
entitled to payment in full from the proceeds of thale of the pledged assets prior to any procbeitg paid to other
creditors or to any holders of our securities.slich an event, it is possible that we would hasgefficient assets remaining
to make payments to other creditors or to any heldéour securities.
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We have outstanding debt, and the amount of debd &s cost may increase and refinancing may notdasilable on
acceptable terms.

As of December 31, 2014, total debt outstanding $43632,780,000 and our ratio of total debt toltetderprise value
was 34.3%. “Enterprise value” means the marketitgqalue of our common stock, plus debt, less casll cash
equivalents at such date. In addition, we haveifsignt debt service obligations. For the yeademhDecember 31, 2014,
our scheduled cash payments for principal andestewere $35,835,000. In the future, we may iradditional debt, and
thus increase the ratio of total debt to total gortse value. If our level of indebtedness incesashere may be an increased
risk of default which could adversely affect ourdncial condition and results of operations. Idioh, in a rising interest
rate environment, the cost of refinancing our éxgstdebt and any new debt or market rate securitingtrument may
increase. Continued uncertainty in the equity eretlit markets may negatively impact our abilityofotain financing on
reasonable terms or at all, which may negativeigcaour ability to refinance our debt.

We might fail to qualify or remain qualified as alRT, and may be required to pay income taxes atpmmate rates.

Although we believe that we will remain organizewawill continue to operate so as to qualify asETRfor federal
income tax purposes, we might fail to remain qiedif Qualification as a REIT for federal income faurposes is governed
by highly technical and complex provisions of tmtefnal Revenue Code (the “Code”) for which there anly limited
judicial or administrative interpretations and deg® on various facts and circumstances that areeméirtely within our
control. In addition, legislation, new regulatipmslministrative interpretations or court decisiomsy significantly change
the relevant tax laws and/or the federal incomectaxsequences of qualifying as a REIT.

If, with respect to any taxable year, we fail toimtain our qualification as a REIT and do not giyalinder statutory
relief provisions, we could not deduct distribugaio stockholders in computing our taxable income would have to pay
federal income tax on our taxable income at regataporate rates. The federal income tax payableldvinclude any
applicable alternative minimum tax. If we had toygaderal income tax, the amount of money availdblelistribute to
stockholders and pay our indebtedness would becestifor the year or years involved, and we wouldomger be required
to make distributions to stockholders. In additiere would also be disqualified from treatment aRET for the four
taxable years following the year during which dfiedition was lost, unless we were entitled to felinder the relevant
statutory provisions.

We face possible adverse changes in tax laws, whiely result in an increase in our tax liability.

From time to time changes in state and local taslar regulations are enacted, which may resuniincrease in our
tax liability. The shortfall in tax revenues fotates and municipalities in recent years may leaart increase in the
frequency and size of such changes. If such clsangeur, we may be required to pay additional taxe®ur assets or
income. These increased tax costs could adveasfegt our financial condition and results of opienas and the amount of
cash available for payment of dividends.

Loss of our key personnel could harm our operatiocgisd adversely affect the value of our common stock

We are dependent on the efforts of Steven RothChief Executive Officer. Although we believe the¢ could find a
replacement, the loss of his services could hamoparations and adversely affect the value ofooummon stock.
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ALEXANDER'S CHARTER DOCUMENTS AND APPLICABLE LAW MA Y HINDER ANY ATTEMPT TO
ACQUIRE US.

Provisions in Alexander’s certificate of incorpooat and by laws, as well as provisions of the Cadd Delaware
corporate law, may delay or prevent a change irtrabof the Company or a tender offer, even if saciion might be
beneficial to stockholders, and limit the stocklesfd opportunity to receive a potential premium tlegir shares of common
stock over then prevailing market prices.

Primarily to facilitate maintenance of its qualidton as a REIT, Alexander’s certificate of incomaion generally
prohibits ownership, directly, indirectly or berwféilly, by any single stockholder of more than 9.8%the outstanding
shares of preferred stock of any class or 4.9%utdtanding common stock of any class. The Boaiigctors may waive
or modify these ownership limits with respect te@@r more persons if it is satisfied that ownershipxcess of these limits
will not jeopardize Alexander’s status as a REIT flederal income tax purposes. In addition, thar@oof Directors has,
subject to certain conditions and limitations, epged Vornado and certain of its affiliates fromsbewnership limitations.
Stock owned in violation of these ownership limitdll be subject to the loss of rights and othertieons. These
ownership limits may have the effect of inhibitiagimpeding a change in control.

Alexander’s Board of Directors is divided into tarelasses of directors. Directors of each classchosen for three-
year staggered terms. Staggered terms of direatass have the effect of delaying or preventing g@snin control or
management, even though changes in managemeimthange in control might be in the best interesiwfstockholders.

In addition, Alexander’s charter documents auttetie Board of Directors to:

e cause Alexander’s to issue additional authorizedubissued common stock or preferred stock;

» classify or reclassify, in one or more series, anigsued preferred stock;

» set the preferences, rights and other terms otkasgified or reclassified stock that Alexandessuies; and
* increase, without stockholder approval, the nunabahares of beneficial interest that Alexanderayrissue.

The Board of Directors could establish a seriepreferred stock with terms that could delay, deteprevent a change
in control of Alexander’s or other transaction thaight involve a premium price or otherwise behia best interest of our
stockholders, although the Board of Directors duoas at present, intend to establish a seriesefemed stock of this kind.
Alexander’s charter documents contain other prowisithat may delay, deter or prevent a changeritraoof the Company
or other transaction that might involve a premiumncgoor otherwise be in the best interest of oacldbolders.

In addition, Vornado, Interstate and its three gehngeartners (each of whom are both trustees oh&@o and Directors
of Alexander’s) together beneficially own approxielg 58.7% of our outstanding shares of commonkstdthis degree of
ownership is likely to reduce the possibility afemder offer or an attempt to change control ofGbenpany by a third party.

We may change our policies without obtaining thepapval of our stockholders.

Our operating and financial policies, including qolicies with respect to acquisitions of real &star other assets,
growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalizatiod dividends, are exclusively determined by our Boaf Directors.
Accordingly, our stockholders do not control thpséicies.
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OUR OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE AND RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTI ONS MAY GIVE RISE TO CONFLICTS
OF INTEREST.

Steven Roth, Vornado and Interstate may exercisbstantial influence over us. They and some of ather directors
and officers have interests or positions in othettidies that may compete with us.

At December 31, 2014, Interstate and its partnersed approximately 6.6% of the common shares oéfigal interest
of Vornado and approximately 26.3% of our outstagdiommon stock. Steven Roth, David Mandelbaum Rurssell B.
Wight, Jr. are the partners of Interstate. Mr.HRetthe Chairman of our Board of Directors andeCEixecutive Officer, the
Chairman of the Board of Trustees and Chief Exgeudfficer of Vornado and the Managing General iarbf Interstate.
Mr. Wight and Mr. Mandelbaum are both trustees ofAddo and members of our Board of Directors. dditéon, Vornado
manages and leases the real estate assets ofdtgers

At December 31, 2014, Vornado owned 32.4% of oustanding common stock, in addition to the 26.3%medvby
Interstate and its partners. In addition to tHatienships described in the immediately precedgiagagraph, Dr. Richard
West is a trustee of Vornado and a member of oardof Directors and Joseph Macnow is our Execudliee President
and Chief Financial Officer and the Executive Vieeesident — Finance and Chief Administrative Officé Vornado.
Stephen W. Theriot, our Assistant Treasurer, i<¢thief Financial Officer of Vornado.

Because of their overlapping interests, Vornado, Raith, Interstate and the other individuals natethe preceding
paragraphs may have substantial influence overakléar's, and on the outcome of any matters suldnitieAlexander’s
stockholders for approval. In addition, certaircid®ns concerning our operations or financial ctiee may present
conflicts of interest among Vornado, Messrs. R&étandelbaum and Wight and Interstate and other ggcholders.
Vornado, Mr. Roth and Interstate may, in the futeegage in a wide variety of activities in thel restate business which
may result in conflicts of interest with respectatters affecting us, such as, which of thesdiesitor persons, if any, may
take advantage of potential business opportunitiesbusiness focus of these entities, the typgsagerties and geographic
locations in which these entities make investmeuagential competition between business activitiesducted, or sought to
be conducted, by us, competition for properties teménts, possible corporate transactions sucleqssitions, and other
strategic decisions affecting the future of thasies.

There may be conflicts of interest between Vornaite affiliates and us.

Vornado manages, develops and leases our propertiEs agreements that have one-year terms expirivdarch of
each year, which are automatically renewable. Bszave share common senior management with Voraaddecause
four of the trustees of Vornado also constitute riiegority of our directors, the terms of the foregpagreements and any
future agreements may not be comparable to thosmuld have negotiated with an unaffiliated thiedty.

For a description of Interstate’s ownership of \&a and Alexander’s, see “Steven Roth, Vornadolataistate may

exercise substantial influence over us. They amdesof our other directors and officers have irder®r positions in other
entities that may compete with us.” above.
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THE NUMBER OF SHARES OF ALEXANDER'S COMMON STOCK AN D THE MARKET FOR THOSE SHARES
GIVE RISE TO VARIOUS RISKS.

The price of our common shares has been volatileanay fluctuate.

The trading price of our common shares has beeaatileond may continue to fluctuate widely as ailtesf a number of
factors, many of which are outside of our contriol.addition, the stock market is subject to flattons in the share prices and
trading volumes that affect the market prices efghares of many companies. These broad markatdlions have in the past
and may in the future adversely affect the markieepf our common shares. Among the factorsdhatd affect the price of
our common shares are:

« our financial condition and performance;

» the financial condition of our tenants, includithg Eextent of tenant bankruptcies or defaults;

» actual or anticipated quarterly fluctuations in operating results and financial condition;

» our dividend policy;

» the reputation of REITs and real estate investmgatserally and the attractiveness of REIT equityusées in
comparison to other equity securities, includingusiies issued by other real estate companies,fizad income
securities;

» uncertainty and volatility in the equity and crediarkets;

+ fluctuations in interest rates;

« changes in revenue or earnings estimates or ptibticaf research reports and recommendations lanfial analysts
or actions taken by rating agencies with respeatitcsecurities or those of other REITS;

» failure to meet analysts’ revenue or earnings edés)

» speculation in the press or investment community;

» strategic actions by us or our competitors, succgsisitions or restructurings;

» the extent of institutional investor interest in us

» the extent of short-selling of our common sharestha shares of our competitors;

» fluctuations in the stock price and operating rssofl our competitors;

» general financial and economic market conditiond, am particular, developments related to marketddons for
REITs and other real estate related companies;

« domestic and international economic factors uredl&b our performance; and

« all other risk factors addressed elsewhere inathisial report on form 10-K.

A significant decline in our stock price could rié$n substantial losses for stockholders.

Alexander’s has additional shares of its commonaltcavailable for future issuance, which could dease the market
price of the common stock currently outstanding.

The interest of our current stockholders could tetet if we issue additional equity securitiess 8f December 31,
2014, we had authorized but unissued 4,826,55@slarcommon stock, par value of $1.00 per shaie3a000,000 shares
of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share; bicky 5,005 shares of common stock are reservedsfuance upon
redemption of the deferred stock units previousnted to our Board of Directors. In addition, &% shares are available
for future grant under the terms of our 2006 Omsil@iock Plan. These awards may be granted inotime 6f options,
restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, deférstock units, or other equity-based interestd,itigranted, would reduce
that number of shares available for future grgmtsyided however that an award that may be settiyl in cash, would not
reduce the number of shares available under the pl&e cannot predict the impact that future isseanof common or
preferred stock or any exercise of outstandingomgtior grants of additional equity-based interestsld have on the market
price of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are no unresolved comments from the stathefSecurities and Exchange Commission as of thke afathis
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table shows the location, ownerslkipproximate size (excluding parking garages) arwipency of each of
our properties as of December 31, 2014.

Average Lease
Annualized Expiration/
Land Building Occupancy Rent Per Option
Property Acreage Square Feet Rate Square Foof! Tenants Expiration(s)
Operating Properties:
731 Lexington Avenue
New York, New Yorl
Office 697,00C Bloomberg L.P. 2029/2039
188,00C Bloomberg L.P. 2020
885,00C 100% $ 98.38
Retail 83,000 The Home Depot 2025/2035
34,000 The Container Store 2021
27,000 Hennes & Mauritz 2019
30,000 Various Various
174,00C 100% 174.95
19 1,059,00(
Rego Park |
Queens, New York 195,00C Sears 2021
50,000 Burlington Coat Factory 2022/2027
46,000 Bed Bath & Beyond 2021
36,000 Marshalls 2021
16,000 Old Navy 2021
4.8 343,00C 100% 37.97
Rego Park Il
Queens, New York
145,00C Costco 2034/2059
135,00C Century 21 2030/2050
133,00C Kohl's 2030/2050
47,000 Toys "R"Us/Babies "R" L 2021/2036
149,00C Various Various
6.6 609,00C 99% 41.70
Paramus
Paramus, New Jersey 30.3 - 100% - IKEA (ground lessee) 2041
Flushing
Queens, New York (ground leased
through January 2037) 1 167,00C 100% 16.53 New World Mall LLC 2027/2037
Property under Development:
Rego Park Il Apartment Tower, 312 units
aggregating 255,000 square feet
under development
Queens, New York - - - - - -
Property to be Developed:
Rego Park lll, adjacent to Rego Park Il
Queens, New York 3.2 - - - - -
2,178,00(

(1) Represents the contractual weighted average restpere foot as of December 31, 2014. For a sison of our leasing activity, see
Item 7 - Overview - Square Footage, Occupancy a@abing Activity.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES - continued

Operating Properties

731 Lexington Avenue

731 Lexington Avenue, a 1,307,000 square foot rudé building, comprises the entire square blocknded by
Lexington Avenue, East §9Street, Third Avenue and East'58treet in Manhattan, New York, and is situatethis heart
of one of Manhattan’s busiest business and shopgistgcts, with convenient access to several sybara bus lines. The
property is located across the street from Bloontéahg's flagship store and only a few blocks awayrfrFifth Avenue and
57" Street. The building contains 885,000 and 174 600et rentable square feet of office and retpélce, respectively,
which we own, and 248,000 square feet of resideseace consisting of 105 condominium units, whigh sold.
Bloomberg L.P. (“Bloomberg”) occupies all of thefioé space. The Home Depot (83,000 square febg,dontainer Store
(34,000 square feet) and Hennes & Mauritz (27,@@e feet) are the principal retail tenants.

On February 28, 2014, we completed a $300,000,6060ancing of the office portion of 731 Lexingtorvénue. The
interest-only loan is at LIBOR plus 0.95% (1.11%December 31, 2014) and matures in March 2017, feith one-year
extension options. The proceeds of the new loaneaisting cash were used to repay the existing &al closing costs. In
connection therewith, we purchased an interestaaewith a notional amount of $300,000,000 thasddBOR at a rate of
6.0%.

The retail space is encumbered by a first mortdege with a balance of $320,000,000 as of Decer8the2014, which
bears interest at 4.93% and matures in July 2015.

In October 2014, Bloomberg exercised its optioreitend leases that were scheduled to expire in rbieee 2015
covering 188,608 square feet of office space a78urLexington Avenue property for a term of 5 yeawe are currently in
negotiations with Bloomberg to determine the rerd#e for the extension period.

Rego Park |

Rego Park |, a 343,000 square foot shopping celoated on Queens Boulevard andf 6®ad in Queens, New York, is
anchored by a 195,000 square foot Sears deparstemat, a 50,000 square foot Burlington Coat Fagtar$6,000 square
foot Bed Bath & Beyond and a 36,000 square footdWalls. The center contains a parking deck (1,2%#ces) that
provides for paid parking.

The center is encumbered by a 100% cash collatechlban with a balance of $78,246,000 as of Deeer8t, 2014.
The loan bears interest at 0.40%, is prepayatdeytime without penalty and matures in March 2015.

On June 24, 2014, Sears Roebuck and Co. (“Sedexd)d lawsuit in the Supreme Court of the Statdledv York against
Vornado and us (and certain of our subsidiariesh wegard to space that Sears leases at our Regd Peoperty. Sears
alleges that the defendants are liable for harmisSeas suffered as a result of (a) water intrusiofts the premises Sears
leases, (b) two fires in February 2014 that cawkmdages to those premises, and (c) alleged vioktd the Americans
with Disabilities Act in the premises’ parking ggea Sears asserts various causes of actions foagks and seeks to
compel compliance with landlord’s obligations tpa@ the premises and to provide security, andoimpel us to abate a
nuisance that Sears claims was a cause of the imtigsions into its premises. In addition to imjtive relief, Sears seeks,
among other things, damages of not less than $ibménd future damages it estimates will not ks lthan $25 million.
We intend to defend the claims vigorously; the amiau range of reasonable possible losses, if @aynot be estimated.

Rego Park Il

Rego Park Il, a 609,000 square foot shopping ceatijacent to the Rego Park | shopping center iee@s, New York, is
anchored by a 145,000 square foot Costco, a 135608re foot Century 21 and a 133,000 square fobt'& In addition,
47,000 square feet is leased to Toys “R” Us/BaliR¥sUs, a one-third owned affiliate of Vornado. dleenter contains a
parking deck (1,315 spaces) that provides for paiting.

This center is encumbered by a first mortgage lodh a balance of $266,534,000 as of December 8142 The loan
bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.85% (2.02% at Deeartk, 2014) and matures in November 2018.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES - continued
Paramus

We own 30.3 acres of land located at the interseatif Routes 4 and 17 in Paramus, New Jersey. lartkis located
directly across from the Garden State Plaza reggimapping mall and is within two miles of thredet regional shopping
malls and ten miles of New York City. The land Heeen ground leased to IKEA Property, Inc. sinc@120The lease
expires in 2041, with a purchase option in 2021$%%5,000,000. The property is encumbered by adB83)00 interest-only
mortgage loan with a fixed rate of 2.90%, which unas in October 2018. The annual triple-net rerthé sum of $700,000
plus the amount of debt service on the mortgage. Idathe purchase option is exercised, we witleige net cash proceeds
of approximately $7,000,000 and recognize a gaithernsale of land of approximately $60,000,000thé& purchase option
is not exercised, the triple-net rent for the [28tyears must include debt service sufficient by famortize $68,000,000
over the remaining 20-year lease term.

Flushing

Flushing is located on Roosevelt Avenue and Maiaebtin the downtown, commercial section of FlughiQueens, New
York. Roosevelt Avenue and Main Street are acsivepping districts and there are many nationaileetalocated in the
area. A subway entrance is located directly imtfrof the property with bus service across theestreThe property
comprises a four-floor building containing 167,08¢fuare feet and a parking garage, which is suledetsNew World Malll
LLC for the remainder of our ground lease term,clitéxpires in 2027 and has one 10-year extensitorop

Property under Development

Rego Park Il Apartment Tower

We are in the process of constructing an apartrtemér above our Rego Il shopping center, contairBag units
aggregating 255,000 square feet, which is expetitebe completed in 2015. The estimated cost of fhrioject is
approximately $125,000,000, of which $73,327,008 ibeen incurred as of December 31, 2014. Therdeamw assurance
that the project will be completed, or completedsohedule or within budget.

Property to be Developed

Rego Park I

We own 3.2 acres of land adjacent to the Rego BRaskopping center in Queens, New York, which cosgs a
one-quarter square block and is located at thesietgion of Junction Boulevard and the Horace Heydervice Road. The
land is currently being used for paid public pagkinWe have not established plans or budgets fd#velopment of this
site and there can be no assurance that we wibdo

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time involved in legal actiomssing in the ordinary course of business. In opmion, after
consultation with our legal counsel, the outcomeswéh matters will not have a material effect on financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

For a discussion of the litigation concerning o@gR Park | property, see “ltem 2. Properties —réjigg Properties —
Rego Park I.”
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEMS5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stocklange under the symbol “ALX.” Set forth below #re high and
low closing prices for the shares of our commorelsfor each full quarterly period within the two stagecent years and any
dividends paid per share during such periods.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Quarter High Low Dividends High Low Dividends
First $ 379.14 $ 32318 $ 325 $ 340.30 $ 322.00 $ 2.75
Second 374.25 339.02 3.25 328.53 281.51 2.75
Third 408.99 363.00 3.25 310.75 268.10 2.75
Fourth 452.10 378.81 3.25 344.92 279.60 2.75

On January 21, 2015, we increased our regular gihardividend to $3.50 per share (a new indicatedual rate of
$14.00 per share). As of January 31, 2015, there approximately 283 holders of record of our camrstock.

Recent Sales of Unreqistered Securities

During 2014 we did not sell any unregistered securities.

Information relating to compensation plans undeiclour equity securities are authorized for issgais set forth under
Part 1ll, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form KGnd such information is incorporated by refereneesin.

Recent Purchases of Equity Securities

During 2014, we did not repurchase any of our gogécurities.
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Performance Graph

The following graph is a comparison of the fivedyeamulative return of our common stock, the StaddaPoor’s 500
Index (the “S&P 500 Index”) and the National Assuicin of Real Estate Investment Trusts’ (“NAREITR) Equity Index,
a peer group index. The graph assumes that $160nwasted on December 31, 2009 in our common stbekS&P 500
Index and the NAREIT All Equity Index and that dividends were reinvested without the payment of e@mmissions.
There can be no assurance that the performancer gtack will continue in line with the same or dan trends depicted in
the graph below.
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—@— S&P 500 Index
—a— The NAREIT All Equity Index

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Alexander’s $ 100 $ 139 $ 128 $ 162 $ 168 $ 230
S&P 500 Index 100 115 117 136 180 205
The NAREIT All Equity Index 100 128 139 166 171 218
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financiatl aperating data. This data should be read ifjuoction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes thematb “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analydis-inancial
Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annidport on Form 10-K. This data may not be comgardo, or
indicative of, future operating results.

Year Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Total revenues $ 200,814 $ 19645 $ 191,312 $ 185246 $ 174,20€
Income from continuing operatidiis $ 6739 $ 54663 $ 50041 $ 54831 $ 49,159
Income from discontinued operatiéfs 529 2,252 624,952 26,215 18,286
Net income 67,925 56,915 674,992 81,046 67,445
Net income attributable to the noncontrolling iet - - (606 (1,623 (1,016
Net income attributable to Alexande $ 67,925 $ 56,915 $ 674,387 $ 79,423 $ 66,429

Income per common share:

Income from continuing operations — basic $ 1319 $ 10.70 $ 9.80 $ 10.74 % 9.63
Income from continuing operations — diluted 13.19 10.70 9.80 10.74 9.63
Net income per common shée basic 13.29 11.14 132.04 15.55 13.01
Net income per common she diluted 13.29 11.14 132.04 15.55 13.01
Dividends per common shar€ $ 13.00 $ 11.00 $ 137.00 $ 12.00 $ 7.50

Balance sheet data:

Total assets $ 1,423,21¢ $ 1,457,72¢ $ 1,48181C $ 1,771,307 $ 1,679,30C
Real estate, at cost 993,927 919,57¢€ 911,792 906,907 897,312
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 210,02t 185,37& 160,82¢ 136,46C 112,76E
Mortgages payable 1,032,78( 1,049,95¢ 1,065,91¢ 1,080,93: 1,095,197
Total equity 348,39¢ 333,581 332,152 363,24E 343,77€

(1) Includes the reversal of a portion of the liabifity income taxes of $2,561 and $5,113 in 2011201D, respectively.
(2) 2012 includes a $599,628 net gain on sale of tate

(3) 2012 includes a special loigrm capital gain dividend of $122.00 per sharedigtribute the tax gain resulting from the sal
Kings Plaza. We began paying a regular quartevigend in the second quarter of 2010.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Overview

Alexander’s, Inc. (NYSE: ALX) is a real estate istment trust (“REIT”), incorporated in Delawaregaged in leasing,
managing, developing and redeveloping its properti@ll references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Company&nd “Alexander’s”,
refer to Alexander’s, Inc. and its consolidatedssdiaries. We are managed by, and our propernteteased and developed
by, Vornado Realty Trust (“Vornado”) (NYSE: VNOWe have six properties in the greater New York Qitgtropolitan
area.

We compete with a large number of property owneis developers. Our success depends upon, amoegfatitors,
trends of the world, national and local economths, financial condition and operating results ofreat and prospective
tenants and customers, the availability and cosapftal, construction and renovation costs, tagesernmental regulations,
legislation, population trends, zoning laws, and alility to lease, sublease or sell our propert&sprofitable levels. Our
success is also subject to our ability to refinagxisting debt on acceptable terms as it comes due.

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Financial Results Suynm

Net income attributable to common stockholderstlier year ended December 31, 2014 was $67,925,01,3029 per
diluted share, compared to $56,915,000, or $11efddputed share for the year ended December 313.2(Net income
attributable to common stockholders includes incdrom discontinued operations (Kings Plaza) of $820, or $0.10 per
diluted share for the year ended December 31, 28ddpared to $2,252,000, or $0.44 per diluted sfaréhe year ended
December 31, 2013.

Funds from operations attributable to common stolddrs (“FFQO”) for the year ended December 31, 206
$96,980,000, or $18.98 per diluted share, compayed5,717,000, or $16.78 per diluted share forgher year. FFO
includes FFO from discontinued operations (KingazB) of $529,000, or $0.10 per diluted share fer year ended
December 31, 2014, compared to $2,252,000, or $=4diluted share for the prior year.

Quarter Ended December 31, 2014 Financial Resultar8ary

Net income attributable to common stockholderstierquarter ended December 31, 2014 was $18,16100@3.55 per
diluted share, compared to $15,790,000, or $3.09jhated share for the quarter ended Decembe2813. Net income
attributable to common stockholders includes incdrom discontinued operations (Kings Plaza) of $620, or $0.10 per
diluted share for the quarter ended December 314,2€bmpared to $2,252,000, or $0.44 per dilutedesfior the quarter
ended December 31, 2013.

FFO for the quarter ended December 31, 2014 was88®00, or $4.99 per diluted share, compare®80(.5,000, or
$4.50 per diluted share for the prior year's quart€FO includes FFO from discontinued operatioksgs Plaza) of
$529,000, or $0.10 per diluted share for the quaneed December 31, 2014, compared to $2,252¢0080).44 per diluted
share for the prior year's quarter.
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Overview — continued

Square Footage, Occupancy and Leasing Activity

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, our portfolio e@sprised of six properties aggregating 2,178 &fitare feet that
had occupancy rates of 99.7% and 99.4%, respegtivel the year ended December 31, 2014 we lea@#V Bquare feet
with an average initial rent of $83.62 per squart Bind a weighted average lease term of 14.6 years

Significant Tenants

Bloomberg L.P. (“Bloomberg”) accounted for $91,10H), $88,164,000 and $86,468,000, or 45% of oal tevenues
in each of the years ended December 31, 2014, @0d2012, respectively. No other tenant accoufaechore than 10%
of our total revenues in any of the last three gedf we were to lose Bloomberg as a tenant, &labmberg were to fail or
become unable to perform its obligations undelasse, it would adversely affect our results ofrapens and financial
condition. We receive and evaluate certain confidé financial information and metrics from Bloostig on a semi-annual
basis. In addition, we access and evaluate fiahncformation regarding Bloomberg from private sms, as well as
publicly available data.

In October 2014, Bloomberg exercised its optionekbend leases that were scheduled to expire in rDigee 2015
covering 188,608 square feet of office space a78urLexington Avenue property for a term of 5 yeawe are currently in
negotiations with Bloomberg to determine the rerd#e for the extension period.

Financing

On February 28, 2014, we completed a $300,000,8060ancing of the office portion of 731 Lexingtorvénue. The
interest-only loan is at LIBOR plus 0.95% (1.11%Detcember 31, 2014) and matures in March 2017, feith one-year
extension options. The proceeds of the new loaneaisting cash were used to repay the existing &&l closing costs. In
connection herewith, we purchased an interestaapewith a notional amount of $300,000,000 thasddBOR at a rate of
6.0%.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in confgrmith accounting principles generally acceptethim United States of
America (“GAAP”), which requires us to make estismtand assumptions that affect the reported amairdassets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets latullities at the date of the financial statenseahd the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting periddsual results could differ from those estimate3et forth below is a
summary of our accounting policies that we beliave critical to the preparation of our consolidafiedncial statements.
This summary should be read in conjunction with@emcomplete discussion of our accounting poligietuded in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements in thisdal Report on Form 10-K.

Real Estate

Real estate is carried at cost, net of accumuldégaeciation and amortization. As of December2RiL4 and 2013, the
carrying amount of our real estate, net of accutedlaepreciation and amortization, was $783,90280a0$734,201,000,
respectively. Maintenance and repairs are expeasddcurred. Depreciation requires an estimatenbpagement of the
useful life of each property and improvement aslaelan allocation of the costs associated withopgrty to its various
components. If we do not allocate these costs gpiately or incorrectly estimate the useful livek aur real estate,
depreciation expense may be misstated. As reatleeist undergoing development activities, all propeperating expenses
directly associated with and attributable to, tewelopment and construction of a project, includinigrest expense, are
capitalized to the cost of the real property to éé&ent that we believe such costs are recovethbdeigh the value of the
property. The capitalization period begins wheweltlgoment activities are underway and ends whenpitogect is
substantially complete. General and administratbgs are expensed as incurred.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — contined

Our properties and related intangible assets, daty properties to be developed in the future andently under
development, are individually reviewed for impaimhevhenever events or changes in circumstancegataithat the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recowerahh impairment exists when the carrying amourdroasset exceeds
the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expecteddolt from the use and eventual disposition ofabkget. Estimates of
future cash flows are based on our current plarisnded holding periods and available market infdgiom at the time the
analyses are prepared. For our development piepedstimates of future cash flows also includdudilire expenditures
necessary to develop the asset, including intgragients that will be capitalized as part of thetanf the asset. An
impairment loss is recognized only if the carryargount of the asset is not recoverable and is meddiased on the excess
of the property’s carrying amount over its estindatair value. If our estimates of future cash figvanticipated holding
periods, or fair values change, based on marketlitons or otherwise, our evaluation of impairmehiarges may be
different and such differences could be materiaduo consolidated financial statements. Estimafdature cash flows are
subjective and are based, in part, on assumptegerding future occupancy, rental rates and camtplirements that could
differ materially from actual results. Plans tolchgroperties over longer periods decrease thdiliiked of recording
impairment losses.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We periodically evaluate the collectibility of ammia due from tenants, including the receivablaragifrom the straight-
lining of rents, and maintain an allowance for difwibaccounts ($1,544,000 and $1,993,000 as of iDbee 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively) for estimated losses resulfingh the inability of tenants to make required payns under the lease
agreements. We exercise judgment in establishiaggetallowances and consider payment history amdrnticredit status in
developing these estimates. These estimates nfi@y ftom actual results, which could be mater@aldur consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
We have the following revenue sources and reveacgnition policies:

» Base Rent — revenue arising from tenant leasesselhents are recognized over the non-cancelabte dé the
related leases on a straight-line basis, whichuthes$ the effects of rent steps and free rent algatisnunder the
leases. We commence rental revenue recognitiom wieetenant takes possession of the leased spddeealeased
space is substantially ready for its intended ude. addition, in circumstances where we provideeaant
improvement allowance for improvements that are exvoy the tenant, we recognize the allowance adaction of
rental revenue on a straight-line basis over tha t& the lease.

e Percentage Rent — revenue arising from retail telemses that is contingent upon the sales of tenaxceeding
defined thresholds. These rents are recognizedadtdr the contingency has been removed (i.e.nvwtbeant sales
thresholds have been achieved).

» Expense Reimbursements — revenue arising from tée@ases which provide for the recovery of all gquaation of
the operating expenses and real estate taxes odspective properties. This revenue is accruetldrsame periods
as the expenses are incurred.

» Parking income — revenue arising from the rentgbarking space at our properties. This incomeeit®gnized as
cash is received.

Before we recognize revenue, we assess, among thihgs, its collectibility. If our assessmenttbé collectibility of
revenue changes, the impact on our consolidatatidial statements could be material.

Income Taxes

We operate in a manner intended to enable us toncento qualify as a Real Estate Investment TEREIT”) under
Sections 856 — 860 of the Internal Revenue Cod®86, as amended (the “Code”). In order to maintair qualification as
a REIT under the Code, we must distribute at 1888 of our taxable income to stockholders each.y&#e distribute to
our stockholders 100% of our taxable income andefbee, no provision for Federal income taxes guieed. If we fail to
distribute the required amount of income to ouckholders, or fail to meet other REIT requirememts,may fail to qualify
as a REIT, which may result in substantial adveageonsequences.

24



Results of Operations — Year Ended December 31, 20tompared to December 31, 2013

Property Rentals

Property rentals were $136,628,000 in the year @fEember 31, 2014, compared to $135,908,000eiptior year,
an increase of $720,000. This increase was priynduie to higher parking revenues.

Expense Reimbursements

Tenant expense reimbursements were $64,186,00@® igear ended December 31, 2014, compared to $60B5in
the prior year, an increase of $3,635,000. Thisciase was primarily due to higher real estate taxes

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses were $69,897,000 in the yeadebdcember 31, 2014, compared to $64,930,00Cipribr year,
an increase of $4,967,000. This increase was phin@mprised of higher real estate taxes of $8,680 and higher non-
reimbursable operating expenses of $1,860,000.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization was $29,196,000 énytar ended December 31, 2014, compared to $28@Bi the
prior year, an increase of $209,000.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $5,03200@ year ended December 31, 2014, comparef, 626,000 in
the prior year, an increase of $6,000.

Interest and Other Income, net

Interest and other income, net was $2,434,000 enydar ended December 31, 2014, compared to $0@E2T the
prior year, an increase of $907,000. This increese primarily due to lease termination income &9 000.

Interest and Debt Expense

Interest and debt expense was $32,068,000 in #weeyeled December 31, 2014, compared to $44,54Mm00e prior
year, a decrease of $12,472,000. This decreasepnivaarily due to savings resulting from the refinang of the office
portion of 731 Lexington Avenue.

Income Tax Benefit

Income tax benefit was $341,000 in the year endedebber 31, 2014, compared to $160,000 in the pgar, an
increase of $181,000. This increase resulted folarger reversal of tax liabilities in the currgmiar as compared to the
prior year. These liabilities were reversed assalt of the expiration of the applicable statutémitations.

Income from Discontinued Operations

Income from discontinued operations was $529,00ényear ended December 31, 2014, compared t&HDA0 in
the year ended December 31, 2013, a decreaseZZ3200. Income for the current and prior yeamprily represent the
reversal of previously accrued liabilities relatedings Plaza which was sold in November 2012.
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Results of Operations — Year Ended December 31, ZDtompared to December 31, 2012

Property Rentals

Property rentals were $135,908,000 in the year@mixember 31, 2013, compared to $134,847,000iy¢har ended
December 31, 2012, an increase of $1,061,000. ifitisase was primarily due to higher occupancy.

Expense Reimbursements

Tenant expense reimbursements were $60,551,00@® igetar ended December 31, 2013, compared to $H6QWHIn
the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase @&000. This increase was primarily due to higket estate taxes and
reimbursable operating expenses.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses were $64,930,000 in the yeadeDdcember 31, 2013, compared to $61,755,00@igehlr ended
December 31, 2012, an increase of $3,175,000. ihbhigase was primarily comprised of higher (i)l restate taxes of
$3,991,000 and (ii) reimbursable operating expersfe$512,000, partially offset by (iii) lower badelot expense of
$1,362,000.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization was $28,987,000 énytar ended December 31, 2013, compared to $28(F1& the
year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $10°2,0

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $5,026r00@ year ended December 31, 2013, compare#, 63,000 in
the year ended December 31, 2012, a decrease 6f0R03

Interest and Other Income, net

Interest and other income, net was $1,527,000&aryéfar ended December 31, 2013, compared to $17H0Be year
ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $1,350,D088.increase was primarily due to dividend ineamthe current year
on the Macerich common shares that we receivednnection with the sale of Kings Plaza in Noven@&t2.

Interest and Debt Expense

Interest and debt expense was $44,540,000 in thegreled December 31, 2013, compared to $45,65h0b@ year
ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of $1,112T008 decrease was primarily due to lower averag# dalances.

Income Tax Benefit (Expense)

In the year ended December 31, 2013, we had amietax benefit of $160,000, compared to an incanrekpense of
$64,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012, asein expense of $224,000. This decrease r@drdi@ a reduction of
our estimated income tax liability due to the eapion of the applicable statute of limitations.

Income from Discontinued Operations

Income from discontinued operations was $2,252j008e year ended December 31, 2013, compared2é,$62,000
in the year ended December 31, 2012, a decre&®2@{700,000. Income for the year ended Decentbe?®L3 represents
the reversal of previously accrued liabilities tethto Kings Plaza. Income for the year ended Bez 31, 2012 is
comprised of a $599,628,000 net gain on sale of&iPlaza and $25,324,000 of income from the omerainf the property
prior to its sale in November 2012.

Net Income Attributable to the Noncontrolling Irést

Net income attributable to the noncontrolling ietrwas $606,000 in the year ended December 32, 208 represents
our venture partner's 75% pro-rata share of theinmme from the Kings Plaza energy plant jointtuesy which was sold
together with Kings Plaza in November 2012.
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Related Party Transactions

Vornado

Steven Roth is the Chairman of our Board of Directand Chief Executive Officer, the Managing Geh&artner of
Interstate Properties (“Interstate”), a New Jergegeral partnership, and the Chairman of the Bo&irustees and Chief
Executive Officer of Vornado. At December 31, 20Mr. Roth, Interstate and its other two generaftrmas, David
Mandelbaum and Russell B. Wight, Jr. (who are asectors of the Company and trustees of Vornadejpeal, in the
aggregate, 26.3% of our outstanding common stockddition to the 2.1% they indirectly own througbrnado. Joseph
Macnow, our Executive Vice President and Chief Raial Officer, is the Executive Vice President -ndfice and Chief
Administrative Officer of Vornado. Stephen W. Tio¢rour Assistant Treasurer, is the Chief Finah@icer of Vornando.

At December 31, 2014, Vornado owned 32.4% of ousstanding common stock. We are managed by, and our
properties are leased and developed by, Vornadsygnt to various agreements, which expire in Mafakach year and are
automatically renewable. These agreements areridedcin Note 3 —Related Party Transactiongo our consolidated
financial statements in this Annual Report on FAG¥K.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Property rental income is our primary source ofhcllew and is dependent on a number of factorsuliolg the
occupancy level and rental rates of our properéissyell as our tenants’ ability to pay their ren®ur properties provide us
with a relatively consistent stream of cash flowttenables us to pay our operating expenses, shterkpense, recurring
capital expenditures and cash dividends to stocddisl Other sources of liquidity to fund cash mexuents include our
existing cash, proceeds from financings, includingrtgage or construction loans secured by our pti@geand proceeds
from asset sales. We anticipate that cash flowsnfcontinuing operations over the next twelve mentobgether with
existing cash balances, will be adequate to fundboginess operations, cash dividends to stockhgldiebt amortization,
recurring capital expenditures and development ediperes related to the Rego Park Il apartment towe

Dividends

On January 21, 2015, we increased our regular eiardividend to $3.50 per share (a new indicatedual rate of
$14.00 per share). The new dividend, if continfeedall of 2015, would require us to pay out appneately $71,600,000.

Development Project

We are in the process of constructing an apartrt@mér above our Rego Il shopping center, contairBdg@ units
aggregating 255,000 square feet, which is expettebe completed in 2015. The estimated cost of fioject is
approximately $125,000,000, of which $73,327,008 lbeen incurred as of December 31, 2014. Therdeamw assurance
that the project will be completed, or completedsohedule or within budget.

Financing Activities and Contractual Obligations

Below is a summary of our outstanding debt and ritees as of December 31, 2014. We intend to eafae our
maturing debt as it comes due.

Interest
(Amounts in thousands) Balance Rate Maturity @
Rego Park | shopping cenfer $ 78,246 0.40% Mar. 201t
731 Lexington Avenue, retail spate 320,00 4.93Y% Jul. 201!
Paramus 68,000 2.90% Oct. 201!
Rego Park Il shopping cent®r 266,534 2.02% Nov. 201¢
731 Lexington Avenue, office spdte 300,00C 1.11% Mar. 202:

$__1032,78C

(1) Represents the extended maturity where we ttesunilateral right to extend.

(2) This loan is 100% cash collateralized.

(3) Inthe event of a substantial casualty, dmeé, up to $75,000 of this loan may become reseto us.
(4) This loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.85%.

(5) This loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 0.95%.

Below is a summary of our contractual obligationd aommitments as of December 31, 2014.

Less than One to Three to More than
(Amounts in thousands) Total One Year  Three Years Five Years Five Years
Contractual obligations (principal and intefB}t
Long-term debt obligations $ 1,089,712 $ 420,454 $ 28,556 $ 336,767 $ 303,93t
Operating lease obligations 9,458 700 1,492 1,600 5,666
Purchase obligations (primarily construction
commitments) 36,957 36,957 - - -

$ 1,136,127 $ 458,111 $ 30,048 $ 338,367 $ 309,601

Commitments:
Standby letters of credit $ 3,308 $ 3,308 $ - 3 - 9 >

(1) Interest on variable rate debt is computed usitesrm effect at December 31, 2014.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources — continued

Commitments and Contingencies

Insurance

We maintain general liability insurance with lima$ $300,000,000 per occurrence and all-risk prigpand rental value
insurance coverage with limits of $1.7 billion pmrcurrence, including coverage for acts of terrorisvith sub-limits for
certain perils such as floods and earthquakes cim @aour properties.

Fifty Ninth Street Insurance Company, LLC (“FNSICHur wholly owned consolidated subsidiary, actsaadirect
insurer for coverage for acts of terrorism, inchglhuclear, biological, chemical and radiologicAIECR”) acts, as defined
by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program ReauthtioizaAct, which expires in December 2020. Coverégeacts of
terrorism (including NBCR acts) is up to $1.7 loilli per occurrence and in the aggregate. Coveragacts of terrorism
(excluding NBCR acts) is fully reinsured by thirdrfy insurance companies with no exposure to FNS¥6t NBCR acts,
FNSIC is responsible for a $275,000 deductible Hbtb of the balance (16% effective January 1, 2@f&) covered loss,
and the Federal government is responsible forgheming 85% (84% effective January 1, 2016) obeeced loss. We are
ultimately responsible for any loss incurred by FGLS

We continue to monitor the state of the insuraneeket and the scope and costs of coverage forcaddsrrorism.
However, we cannot anticipate what coverage willabailable on commercially reasonable terms infthare. We are
responsible for deductibles and losses in excessrahsurance coverage, which could be material.

Our mortgage loans are non-recourse to us, exoe75,000,000 of the $320,000,000 mortgage ometadl portion of
our 731 Lexington Avenue property, in the evena gubstantial casualty, as defined. Our mortgagesl contain customary
covenants requiring us to maintain insurance. Alth we believe that we have adequate insurancrage for purposes of
these agreements, we may not be able to obtaiguEnadent amount of coverage at reasonable costeifuture. If lenders
insist on greater coverage than we are able targbtaould adversely affect our ability to finanour properties.

Litigation

Rego Park |

On June 24, 2014, Sears Roebuck and Co. (“Sealst) 4 lawsuit in the Supreme Court of the StateNefv York
against Vornado and us (and certain of our sub#édiawith regard to space that Sears leases aRego Park | property.
Sears alleges that the defendants are liable fon ISears has suffered as a result of (a) watensiains into the premises
Sears leases, (b) two fires in February 2014 thatsed damages to those premises, and (c) allegéatioms of the
Americans with Disabilities Act in the premisesrkiag garage. Sears asserts various causes ohadtr damages and
seeks to compel compliance with landlord’s obligasi to repair the premises and to provide secuity, to compel us to
abate a nuisance that Sears claims was a cause whter intrusions into its premises. In additoinjunctive relief, Sears
seeks, among other things, damages of not less®#hanillion and future damages it estimates wilt be less than $25
million. We intend to defend the claims vigoroydlige amount or range of reasonable possible lp#sany, cannot be
estimated.

Paramus

In 2001, we leased 30.3 acres of land located rarfas, New Jersey to IKEA Property, Inc. The |daae a purchase
option in 2021 for $75,000,000. The property istenbered by a $68,000,000 interest-only mortgage leith a fixed rate
of 2.90%, which matures in October 2018. The antak-net rent is the sum of $700,000 plus theant of debt service
on the mortgage loan. If the purchase option is@sed, we will receive net cash proceeds of apgprately $7,000,000 and
recognize a gain on sale of land of approximat&,$00,000. If the purchase option is not exergifieel triple-net rent for
the last 20 years would include debt service siefficto fully amortize $68,000,000 over the remagn20-year lease term.

Other

There are various legal actions against us in tbaary course of business. In our opinion, thicome of such matters
in the aggregate will not have a material effecbanfinancial condition, results of operationscash flows.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources — continued

Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents were $227,815,000 anibere31, 2014, compared to $347,718,000 at Decefhe2013, a
decrease of $119,903,000. This decrease resutied$87,870,000 of net cash used in financing aes/and $81,520,000
of net cash used in investing activities, partiafyset by $49,487,000 of net cash provided by afieg activities. Our
consolidated outstanding debt was $1,032,780,00Degember 31, 2014, a $17,179,000 decrease fronbdlence at
December 31, 2013.

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Net cash provided by operating activities of $49,880 was comprised of net income of $67,925,0@D%#9,355,000
of adjustments for non-cash items, partially oftset$47,793,000 for the net change in operatingtasand liabilities. The
adjustments for non-cash items were primarily cosagr of depreciation and amortization of $31,919,@artially offset by
straight-lining of rental income of $2,538,000. €Thhange in operating assets and liabilities wasapily due to the
payment of accrued leasing commissions to Vornddz!0,353,000.

Net cash used in investing activities of $81,520,@@s primarily comprised of $61,964,000 of congtinn in progress
and real estate additions, primarily related todbeelopment of our Rego Park 1l Apartment Towead purchases of short-
term investments of $24,998,000.

Net cash used in financing activities of $87,870,0¢as primarily comprised of (i) debt repayments$a17,179,000
(primarily repayment of the loan on the office pamtof 731 Lexington Avenue) and (ii) dividends gh@in common stock of
$66,436,000, partially offset by (iii) $300,000,000proceeds from the refinancing of the office tpmr of 731 Lexington
Avenue.

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Cash and cash equivalents were $347,718,000 anibere31, 2013, compared to $353,396,000 at Decefhet012, a
decrease of $5,678,000. This decrease resulted $®2,241,000 of net cash used in financing a@wiand $7,320,000 of
net cash used in investing activities, partiallfsef by $73,883,000 of net cash provided by opegaictivities.

Net cash provided by operating activities of $73,880 was comprised of net income of $56,915,0@D%#v,876,000
of adjustments for non-cash items, partially oftsgt$10,908,000 for the net change in operatingtasand liabilities. The
adjustments for non-cash items were primarily cosegr of depreciation and amortization of $31,396,@artially offset by
straight-lining of rental income of $3,707,000.

Net cash used in investing activities of $7,320,8@8 primarily comprised of $7,671,000 of constiarcin progress and
real estate additions.

Net cash used in financing activities of $72,240,@s primarily comprised of dividends paid on coonnstock of
$56,197,000 and debt repayments of $15,957,000.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources — continued

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Cash and cash equivalents were $353,396,000 anibere31, 2012, compared to $506,619,000 at Decefhet011, a
decrease of $153,223,000. This decrease resutied$973,007,000 of net cash used in financing/itiess, partially offset
by $710,077,000 of net cash provided by investittiyties and $109,707,000 of net cash providedpgrating activities.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $108,000, of which $34,896,000 was related to disnaed
operations. Net cash provided by operating a@sitvas comprised of net income of $674,993,000,%%154,000 for the
net change in operating assets and liabilitiestiglyr offset by $567,440,000 of adjustments fomrmash items. The
adjustments for non-cash items were primarily casagr of a net gain on the sale of real estate 89 828,000 and straight-
lining of rental income of $4,475,000, partiallyfs#t by depreciation and amortization of $36,363,00

Net cash provided by investing activities of $7170,@00 was comprised of (i) net proceeds from #he sf real estate of
$714,054,000 (excluding $30,000,000 of stock caersition) and (ii) proceeds from maturing short-tanvestments of
$5,000,000, partially offset by (iii) $7,351,000 adnstruction in progress and real estate additipnmarily related to our
Rego Park Il property and (iv) an increase in refstd cash of $1,626,000.

Net cash used in financing activities of $973,000,0vas primarily comprised of (i) dividends paid @mmon stock of
$699,791,000, which included a special dividen$®23,178,000 to distribute the tax gain on the sélKings Plaza, (i)
repayment of the Kings Plaza debt of $250,000,q8huthe sale of the property, (iii) debt repaymenit$15,016,000 and
(iv) a payment of $7,800,000 to acquire the nonadiitig interest in the Kings Plaza energy planbjowenture, which was
sold with the mall.
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Funds from Operations (“FFQO”)

FFO is computed in accordance with the definitido@ed by the Board of Governors of the Nationato&sation of
Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). NAREIEfthes FFO as GAAP net income or loss adjustedxtbude net
gains from sales of depreciated real estate agsalsestate impairment losses, depreciation arattazation expense from
real estate assets, extraordinary items and opfemified non-cash items, including the pro rataslwd such adjustments of
unconsolidated subsidiaries. FFO and FFO peratlighare are used by management, investors angstntd facilitate
meaningful comparisons of operating performanceveen periods and among our peers because it escthdeeffect of
real estate depreciation and amortization and aiesgn sales, which are based on historical @@stsmplicitly assume that
the value of real estate diminishes predictablyr divee, rather than fluctuating based on existirgykat conditions. FFO
does not represent cash generated from operatthgtias and is not necessarily indicative of cashailable to fund cash
requirements and should not be considered as amaiive to net income as a performance measucagh flow as a
liquidity measure. FFO may not be comparable tailarly titted measures employed by other companiggeconciliation
of our net income to FFO is provided below.

FFO attributable to common stockholders for ther yraled December 31, 2014 was $96,980,000, or $J#0diluted
share, compared to $85,717,000, or $16.78 peredilahare for the prior year. FFO attributable dnmon stockholders
includes FFO from discontinued operations (KingazB) of $529,000, or $0.10 per diluted share fer year ended
December 31, 2014, compared to $2,252,000, or $ieAdiluted share for the prior year.

FFO attributable to common stockholders for therguanded December 31, 2014 was $25,508,000,.88 $&r diluted
share, compared to $23,015,000, or $4.50 per dilsteare for the prior year’'s quarter. FFO attadble to common
stockholders includes FFO from discontinued openst(Kings Plaza) of $529,000, or $0.10 per dilgedre for the quarter
ended December 31, 2014, compared to $2,252,00k0.44 per diluted share for the prior year's qerart

The following table reconciles our net income taOFF

For the Year Ended For the Quarter Ended
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per shavards) December 31, December 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Net income attributable to Alexande $ 67,925 $ 56,915 $ 18,161 $ 15,790
Depreciation and amortization of real property 29,055 28,802 7,347 7,225
FFO attributable to common stockholders $ 96,980 $ 85,717 $ 25,508 $ 23,015
FFO attributable to common stockholders per dilisiedre $ 1898 $ 16.78 $ 499 $ 4.50
Weighted average shares used in computing diluf€l rer share 5,110,62¢ 5,109,05¢ 5,111,201 5,109,717
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We have exposure to fluctuations in interest ratdsch are sensitive to many factors that are bdyaunr control. Our
exposure to a change in interest rates is sumndhirizéne table below.

2014 2013
Weighted Effect of 1% Weighted
December 31, Average Change in December 31, Average
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amoL  Balance Interest Rate Base Rates Balance Interest Rate
Variable (including $0 and $42,924,
respectively, due to Vornado) $ 566,534 1.54% $ 5,665 $ 312,42C 2.00%
Fixed Rate 466,24€ 3.87% - 780,463 4.46%
$ 1,032,78( $ 5,665 $ 1,092,88:
Total effect on diluted earnings per share $ 1.11

As of December 31, 2014, we have an interest gtendth a notional amount of $300,000,000 that ddBOR at a rate
of 6.0%.

Fair Value of Debt

The fair value of our consolidated debt is caledaby discounting the future contractual cash flofthese instruments
using current risk-adjusted rates available to dwers with similar credit ratings, which are praddby a third-party
specialist. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 ettanated fair value of our consolidated debt wh®#5,000,000 and
$1,115,000,000, respectively. Our fair value eates, which are made at the end of the reportinpghemay be different
from the amounts that may ultimately be realizedrughe disposition of our financial instruments.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Alexander’s, Inc.
Paramus, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Alexander’s, Inc. and subsidiaries ({@ompany”) as
of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the relatedotidated statements of income, comprehensive incarnanges in
equity, and cash flows for each of the three yéarhe period ended December 31, 2014. Our awadés included the
financial statement schedules listed in the Inddean 15. These financial statements and findrst&@ement schedules are
the responsibility of the Company’s managementr 1@sponsibility is to express an opinion on thmaficial statements and
financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighamio(United
States). Those standards require that we planpanidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assuranogtabhether the
financial statements are free of material misstat@m An audit includes examining, on a test basigjence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemehts audit also includes assessing the accourtimgiples used and
significant estimates made by management, as wedvaluating the overall financial statement preg@n. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagoresent fairly, in all material respects, theafficial position of
Alexander’s, Inc. and subsidiaries at December2814 and 2013, and the results of their operatimastheir cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Deae®ihe2014, in conformity with accounting principlgenerally accepted
in the United States of America. Also, in our apim such financial statement schedules, when densil in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements taken a$a@e, present fairly, in all material respects ithformation set forth
therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bloddnited
States), the Company’s internal control over finaneporting as of December 31, 2014, based omrtiteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2018sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohthe Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 17, 26{sessed an unqualified opinion on the Companyterival control
over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 17, 2015

35



ALEXANDER'S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per shavaras)

December 31,

ASSETS 2014 2013

Real estate, at cost:

Land $ 44971 $ 44,971

Buildings and leasehold improvements 873,667 869,681

Development and construction in progress 75,289 4,924

Total 993,927 919,57¢€

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (210,025 (185,375
Real estate, net 783,902 734,201
Cash and cash equivalents 227,81& 347,71¢
Short-term investments 24,998 -
Restricted cash 84,602 90,044
Marketable securities 44,646 31,522
Tenant and other receivables, net of allowancedabtful accounts of $1,544 and $1,993, respegt 2,213 2,925
Receivable arising from the straight-lining of ient 179,93¢ 177,401
Deferred lease and other property costs, net, dimuunamortized leasing fees to Vornado of

$33,974 and $36,728, respectively 46,561 50,273
Deferred debt issuance costs, net of accumulatedtization of $11,295 and $19,187, respectively 4,824 3,246
Other assets 23,716 20,394

$ 142321¢ $ 1,457,72¢

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Mortgages payable $ 1,032,78C $ 1,049,95¢
Amounts due to Vornado 3,922 43,307
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 35,127 27,450
Other liabilities 2,988 3,427

Total liabilities 1,074,817 1,124,145

Commitments and contingencies

Preferred stock: $1.00 par value per share; authdyi3,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding, r - -
Common stock: $1.00 par value per share; authqriZg00,000 shares;

issued 5,173,450 shares; outstanding 5,106,19éshar 5,173 5,173
Additional capital 30,139 29,745
Retained earnings 299,004 297,51¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income 14,457 1,522

348,773 333,95¢
Treasury stock: 67,254 shares, at cost (374 (374
Total equity 348,39¢ 333,581

$ 142321¢ $ 1,457,72¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALEXANDER'S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

REVENUES

Property rentals $ 136,626 $ 13590¢ $ 134,847

Expense reimbursements 64,186 60,551 56,465
Total revenues 200,814 196,45¢ 191,312
EXPENSES

Operating, including fees to Vornado of $4,5161$8, and $4,318, respectively 69,897 64,930 61,755

Depreciation and amortization 29,196 28,987 28,815

General and administrative, including managemest fe Vornado of $2,380, $2,3¢

and $2,160, respectively 5,032 5,026 5,162

Total expenses 104,12¢ 98,943 95,732
OPERATING INCOME 96,689 97,516 95,580

Interest and other income, net 2,434 1,527 177

Interest and debt expense (32,068 (44,540 (45,652

Income before income taxes 67,055 54,503 50,105

Income tax benefit (expense) 341 160 (64)
Income from continuing operations 67,396 54,663 50,041
Income from discontinued operations, including 8%628 net gain on sale of real

estate in 2012 529 2,252 624,952

Net incom 67,925 56,915 674,993
Net income attributable to the noncontrolling iet - - (606
Net income attributable to Alexande $ 67,925 $ 56,915 $ 674,387
Income per common share - basic and diluted:

Income from continuing operations $ 1319 $ 1070 $ 9.80

Income from discontinued operations, net 0.10 0.44 122.24

Net income per comnn share $ 13.29 $ 1114 % 132.04

Weighted average shares outstanding 5,110,62¢ 5,109,05¢ 5,107,61(

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALEXANDER'S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net incom $ 67,925 $ 56,915 $ 674,99
Other comprehensive income:

Change in unrealized net gain on available-for-satairities 13,124 316 1,206
Change in value of interest rate cap (189 - -
Comprehensive income 80,860 57,231 676,19¢
Less comprehensive income attributable to the nunaiting interest - - (606
Comprehensive income attributable to Alexander's $ 80,860 $ 57,231 $ 675,59

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALEXANDER'S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands)

Accumulated

Other Non-
Common Stock Additional Retained Comprehensive  Treasury  controlling Total
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Stock Interest Equity

Balance, December 31, 2011 5173 ¢ 5173 § 31,801 $ 322,201 $ - $ (375, ¢ 4,445 $  363,24F
Net ircome - - - 674,387 - - 606 674,992
Dividends paid, including a speci

dividend of $623,178 - - - (699,791 - - - (699,791
Acquisition of the noncontrolling

interest - - (2,749 - - - (5,051 (7,800
Change in unrealized net gain

on available-for-sale securities - - - - 1,206 - - 1,206
Deferred stock unit grant - - 300 - - - - 300
Balance, December 31, 2012 5,173 5,173 29,352 296,797 1,206 (375, - 332,152
Net income - - - 56,915 - - - 56,915
Dividends paid (56,197 (56,197
Change in unrealized net gain

on available-for-sale securities - - - - 316 - - 316
Deferred stock unit grant - - 394 - - - - 394
Other - - (1) - - 1 - -
Balance, December 31, 2013 5,173 5,173 29,745 297,51F 1,522 (374 - 333,581
Net incom: - - - 67,925 - - - 67,925
Dividends paid - - - (66,436 - - - (66,436
Change in unrealized net gain

on available-for-sale securities - - - - 13,124 - - 13,124
Change in value of interest rate ¢ - - - - (189 - - (189
Deferred stock unit grant - - 394 - - - - 394
Balance, December 31, 2014 5173 ¢ 5173 $ 30,139 $ 299,004 $ 14,457 $ (374 ¢ - $  348,39¢

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALEXANDER’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net incom:

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization, including amortiaatof debt issuance costs
Straight-lining of rental income
Stock-based compensation expense
Reversal of income tax liability
Net gain on sale of real est

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Tenant and other receivables, net
Other assets
Amounts due to Vornado
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activi

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Construction in progress and real estate additions
Purchases of short-term investments
Restricted cash
Proceeds from sale of real estate
Proceeds from maturing short-term investments

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activ

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Debt repayments
Proceeds from borrowing
Dividends paid, including a special dividend of 3678 in 2012
Debt issuance costs
Acquisition of the noncontrolling interest
Net cash used in financing activit

Net decrease in cash and cash equive
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash payments for interest, excluding capitalizeerest of $603 in 2014

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Liability for real estate additions

Marketable securities received in connection whih sale of real estate
Commission payable to Vornado incurred in connectiith the sale of real estate
Write-off of fully amortized and/or depreciated etss

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 67925 $ 56915 $ 674,997
31,919 31,395 36,363
(2,538 (3,707 (4,475
394 394 300
(420 (206 -
- - (599,628
712 (972, 234
(4,334 472 4,318
(42,779 (3,138 (2,405
(1,373 (6,284 (107,
19) (42) 114
49,487 73,883 109,707
(61,964 (7,671 (7,351
(24,998 - -
5,442 351 (1,626
- - 714,054
- - 5,000
(81,520 (7,320 710,077
(317,179 (15,957 (265,016}
300,00C - -
(66,436 (56,197 (699,791}
(4,255 (87 (400!
- - (7,800
(87,870 (72,241 (973,007}
(119,903 (5678  (153,223)
347,71€ 353,39€ 506,61¢
$ 22781F $ 347,71€ $ 353,39€
$ 30656 $ 42121 $ 47,932
$ 13529 $ 1,084 $ 221
- - 30,000
- - 7,510
10,626 - 648

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ALEXANDER'’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION

Alexander’s, Inc. (NYSE: ALX) is a real estate istment trust (“REIT”), incorporated in Delawaregaged in leasing,
managing, developing and redeveloping its propertiall references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Companyénd “Alexander’s”
refer to Alexander’s, Inc. and its consolidatedssdiaries. We are managed by, and our propernteteased and developed
by, Vornado Realty Trust (“Vornado”) (NYSE: VNO).

We have six properties in the greater New York @istropolitan area consisting of:

Operating properties

e 731 Lexington Avenue, a 1,307,000 square foot audé building, comprising the entire square blookrzed
by Lexington Avenue, East B%treet, Third Avenue and East'58treet in Manhattan. The building contains
885,000 and 174,000 of net rentable square feefffufe and retail space, respectively, which we pand
248,000 square feet of residential space consistirid5 condominium units, which we sold. BloonérP.
(“Bloomberg”) occupies all of the office space. eThHlome Depot (83,000 square feet), The ContainereSt
(34,000 square feet) and Hennes & Mauritz (27,@@e feet) are the principal retail tenants;

« Rego Park I, a 343,000 square foot shopping celoteated on Queens Boulevard and'6®ad in Queens. The
center is anchored by a 195,000 square foot Segpartinent store, a 50,000 square foot BurlingtomatCo
Factory, a 46,000 square foot Bed Bath & BeyondaB6,000 square foot Marshalls;

 Rego Park I, a 609,000 square foot shopping ceatijacent to the Rego Park | shopping center ine@s.
The center is anchored by a 145,000 square foat@os 135,000 square foot Century 21 and a 13360@re
foot Kohl's. In addition, 47,000 square feet iaded to Toys “R” Us/Babies “R” Us, a one-third odraffiliate
of Vornado;

e Paramus, located at the intersection of Routesd41&nin Paramus, New Jersey, consists of 30.3 adresd
that is leased to IKEA Property, Inc.; and

e Flushing, a 167,000 square foot building, locate®aosevelt Avenue and Main Street in Queens, ithatib-
leased to New World Mall LLC for the remainder afr@round lease term.

Property under development

* Rego Park Il Apartment Tower; We are in the proagfssonstructing an apartment tower above our Régo
shopping center, containing 312 units aggregatbyy@O0 square feet, which is expected to be coeghiet2015.
The estimated cost of this project is approxima$il25,000,000, of which $73,327,000 has been iaduas of
December 31, 2014. There can be no assurancéhéhatoject will be completed, or completed on scite or
within budget.

Property to be developed

* Rego Park Ill, a 3.2 acre land parcel adjacenhéoRego Park Il shopping center in Queens, atriteesiection
of Junction Boulevard and the Horace Harding Sertioad.

We have determined that our properties have singit@momic characteristics and meet the criteria pleamit the
properties to be aggregated into one reportablensey (the leasing, management, development andvebxeng of
properties in the greater New York City metropaiitarea). Our chief operating decision-maker asseasd measures
segment operating results based on a performanesumereferred to as net operating income at ttheittual operating
segment. Net operating income for each propepsesents net rental revenues less operating expense
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ALEXANDER'’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation- The accompanying consolidated financial statésnérclude our accounts and those of our
consolidated subsidiaries. All intercompany ameunave been eliminated. Our financial statemergspaepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), alirequires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegbamounts of assets and liabilities and disc®fi contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial stagens and the reported amounts of revenues and sxpeluring the reporting
periods. Actual results could differ from thosdiraates. Certain prior year balances have beelassified in order to
conform to current year presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Literature In April 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsaBl (“FASB”) issued an
update (“ASU 2014-08"Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosuré®isposals of Components of an Entity
Accounting Standards Codification (*“ASC”") Topic 2% esentation of Financial Statemematsd ASC Topic 360Property
Plant and Equipment Under ASU 2014-08, only disposals that represestrategic shift that has (or will have) a major
effect on the entity’s results and operations wayldlify as discontinued operations. In additida®U 2014-08 expands the
disclosure requirements for disposals that meetd#faition of a discontinued operation and reguiesntities to disclose
information about disposals for individually sigo#nt components that do not meet the definitiondifcontinued
operations. ASU 2014-08 is effective for interimdaannual reporting periods in fiscal years thaitefter December 15,
2014. The adoption of this update on January 1526 not expected to have any impact on our codeteld financial
statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued an update (“ASU 20%%-@stablishing ASC Topic 60&evenue from Contracts with
Customers ASU 2014-09 establishes a single comprehensivdeinfor entities to use in accounting for revemusing
from contracts with customers and supersedes nfidsecexisting revenue recognition guidance. AS11409 requires an
entity to recognize revenue when it transfers psechigoods or services to customers in an amountréfiects the
consideration to which the entity expects to batledtin exchange for those goods or services dsal Bequires certain
additional disclosures. ASU 2014-09 is effectiee interim and annual reporting periods in fiscahgs that begin after
December 15, 2016. We are currently evaluatingrtipact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on our cdidsted financial
statements.

Real Estate- Real estate is carried at cost, net of accumdldepreciation and amortization. Maintenancerapdirs
are expensed as incurred. Depreciation requiregséimate by management of the useful life of epobperty and
improvement as well as an allocation of the costoeiated with a property to its various componems real estate is
undergoing development activities, all property rapiag expenses directly associated with and atixile to, the
development and construction of a project, inclgdimerest expense, are capitalized to the coshefeal property to the
extent that we believe such costs are recoverabteigh the value of the property. The capitalmatperiod begins when
development activities are underway and ends wherptoject is substantially complete. General ahahinistrative costs
are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is recedron a straight-line basis over estimated usefes] which range from 3
to 40 years. Tenant allowances are amortized stragght-line basis over the lives of the relatealskes, which approximate
the useful lives of the assets.

Our properties and related intangible assets, dnaty properties to be developed in the future andently under
development, are individually reviewed for impaimhavhenever events or changes in circumstancegdtalithat the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recowerahh impairment exists when the carrying amourdroasset exceeds
the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expecteddolt from the use and eventual disposition ofabget. Estimates of
future cash flows are based on our current plarisnded holding periods and available market infdgiom at the time the
analyses are prepared. For our development piepedstimates of future cash flows also includdudiire expenditures
necessary to develop the asset, including intgragtents that will be capitalized as part of thetauf the asset. An
impairment loss is recognized only if the carryargount of the asset is not recoverable and is meddiased on the excess
of the property’s carrying amount over its estindatair value. If our estimates of future cash figvanticipated holding
periods, or fair values change, based on marketlitons or otherwise, our evaluation of impairmehiarges may be
different and such differences could be materiaduo consolidated financial statements. Estimafdstare cash flows are
subjective and are based, in part, on assumptegerding future occupancy, rental rates and camtplirements that could
differ materially from actual results. Plans tolchgroperties over longer periods decrease thdiliked of recording
impairment losses.
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ALEXANDER'’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - con tinued

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist of highlyidiguvestments with original maturities of
three months or less and are carried at cost, wapghoximates fair value, due to their short-teraturities. The majority
of our cash and cash equivalents consist of (ipdiép at major commercial banks, which may at timeseed the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation limit, (i) Uniteda&ts Treasury Bills, (iii) money market funds, whiavest in United
States Treasury Bills and (iv) certificates of deipplaced through an account registry service (AR3"). To date we have
not experienced any losses on our invested cash.

Short-term Investments- Short-term investments consist of United Statessury Bills with original maturities greater
than three but less than six months. These hilifyd investments are classified as availabledale and are presented at
fair value on our consolidated balance sheets.edlized gains and losses resulting from these imasgs are included in
“other comprehensive income” and are recognizezhmings only upon the expiration of the investraent

Restricted Cash Restricted cash primarily consists of cash held imon-interest bearing escrow account in connection
with our Rego Park | 100% cash collateralized nagtg as well as security deposits and other casiovesd under loan
agreements for debt service, real estate taxepepyoinsurance and capital improvements.

Marketable Securities- Our marketable securities consist of commoneshaf The Macerich Company (NYSE: MAC)
(“Macerich”), which are classified as available-Bale. Available-for-sale securities are presergtdair value on our
consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized gaindaasés resulting from the mark-to-market of thesmusties are included
in “other comprehensive income” and are recognizedarnings only upon the sale of the securiti®¥e evaluate our
marketable securities for impairment at the endaath reporting period. If investments have unzedlilosses, we evaluate
the underlying cause of the decline in value arastimated recovery period, as well as the sgvant duration of the
decline. In our evaluation, we consider our ap#ind intent to hold our investment for a reasoagiglriod of time sufficient
for us to recover our cost basis, as well as tta-tesm prospects for the investment in relatiothi severity and duration
of the decline.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts- We periodically evaluate the collectibility of ammts due from tenants, including
the receivable arising from the straight-liningrefts, and maintain an allowance for doubtful act®y$1,544,000 and
$1,993,000 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, rirgplgy for the estimated losses resulting from ithebility of tenants to
make required payments under the lease agreemévesexercise judgment in establishing these all@earand consider
payment history and current credit status in deyelpthese estimates.

Deferred Charges- Direct financing costs are deferred and amaltiaeer the terms of the related agreements as a
component of interest and debt expense. Diredscetated to leasing activities are capitalized amortized on a straight-
line basis over the lives of the related leasedl other deferred charges are amortized on a strdige basis, which
approximates the effective interest rate methodgcoordance with the terms of the agreements tohnthiey relate.

Revenue Recognitior We have the following revenue sources and reveacognition policies:

Base Rent — revenue arising from tenant lease®selhents are recognized over the non-cancelaioiedkthe related
leases on a straight-line basis, which includesdtiects of rent steps and free rent abatementerutiet leases. We
commence rental revenue recognition when the tetsltgs possession of the leased space and thed lspsee is
substantially ready for its intended use. In dddijtin circumstances where we provide a tenantawgment allowance for
improvements that are owned by the tenant, we rézeghe allowance as a reduction of rental reveotua@ straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

Percentage Rent — revenue arising from retail teleases that is contingent upon the sales of tereeeding defined
thresholds. These rents are recognized only #feecontingency has been removed (i.e., when tes@es thresholds have
been achieved).

Expense Reimbursements — revenue arising from téeases which provide for the recovery of all guaation of the
operating expenses and real estate taxes of tpeatdge properties. This revenue is accrued inséme periods as the
expenses are incurred.

Parking Income — revenue arising from the rentgdarking space at our properties. This incomeeegnized as cash is
received.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - con tinued

Income Taxes— We operate in a manner intended to enable gsritinue to qualify as a Real Estate InvestmenstTru
(“REIT”) under Sections 856 — 860 of the Intern@v@nue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).rdarao maintain
our qualification as a REIT under the Code, we ndistribute at least 90% of our taxable incomettelsholders each year.
We distribute to our stockholders 100% of our tdaalbcome and therefore, no provision for Federabime taxes is
required. Dividends distributed for the years eh@ecember 31, 2014 and 2013 were categorizedeftmral income tax

purposes, as ordinary income.

The following table reconciles our net income ttireated taxable income for the years ended Dece®ibe2014, 2013
and 2012.

(Unaudited and in thousands) Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Net income attributable to Alexande $ 67,925 $ 56,915 $ 674,387
Straight-line rent adjustments (2,538 (3,707 (4,475
Depreciation and amortization timing differences 2,283 2,134 910
Interest expense 10 27 29
Reversal of liability for income taxes (420 (206 -
Additional tax gain on sale of the Kings Plaza

Regional Shopping Center (357 - 23,928
Other 1,112 (2,213 4,396
Estimated taxable income $ 68,015 $ 52,950 $ 699,17E

At December 31, 2014, the net basis of our assetdiabilities for tax purposes are approximate0$,815,000 lower
than the amount reported for financial statemenpgses.
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3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Vornado

At December 31, 2014, Vornado owned 32.4% of ousstanding common stock. We are managed by, and our
properties are leased and developed by, Vornadeugant to the agreements described below, whiclieekpMarch of each
year and are automatically renewable.

Steven Roth is the Chairman of our Board of Directand Chief Executive Officer, the Managing Geh&artner of
Interstate Properties (“Interstate”), a New Jergegeral partnership, and the Chairman of the Bo&irustees and Chief
Executive Officer of Vornado. At December 31, 20Mr. Roth, Interstate and its other two generaftrmas, David
Mandelbaum and Russell B. Wight, Jr. (who are alsectors of the Company and trustees of Vornadejeal, in the
aggregate, 26.3% of our outstanding common staockddition to the 2.1% they indirectly own througbrnado. Joseph
Macnow, our Executive Vice President and Chief Raial Officer, is the Executive Vice President -ndice and Chief
Administrative Officer of Vornado. Stephen W. Tioérour Assistant Treasurer, is the Chief Finah©iicer of Vornado.

Management and Development Agreements

We pay Vornado an annual management fee equaéteuim of (i) $2,800,000, (ii) 2% of gross reventgnf the Rego
Park Il shopping center, (iii) $0.50 per squaret fobthe tenant-occupied office and retail spac@3t Lexington Avenue,
and (iv) $280,000, escalating at 3% per annumfanaging the common area of 731 Lexington Avendernado is also
entitled to a development fee equal to 6% of dgumlent costs, as defined. The payment of developfees for the Rego
Park Il Apartment Tower is due on substantial catiph of the construction, as defined.

Leasing Agreements

Vornado also provides us with leasing servicesaftee of 3% of rent for the first ten years of aske term, 2% of rent for
the eleventh through the twentieth year of a l¢asm, and 1% of rent for the twenty-first throudirtieth year of a lease
term, subject to the payment of rents by tenamtsthe event third-party real estate brokers aeduthe fees to Vornado
increase by 1% and Vornado is responsible for ¢as to the third-party real estate brokers. Vasriadalso entitled to a
commission upon the sale of any of our assets @que#o of gross proceeds, as defined, for asses$ $a¢s than $50,000,000
and 1% of gross proceeds, as defined, for ass=t s&l$50,000,000 or more. Prior to December R242the total of these
amounts was payable in annual installments in aouamnot to exceed $4,000,000, with interest onutgaid balance at
one-year LIBOR plus 1.0%. On December 22, 2014 |¢hsing agreements with Vornado were amendetiminate the
annual installment cap of $4,000,000. In additie, paid the accrued balance of leasing commissibi$210,353,000 to
Vornado.

Other Agreements

We also have agreements with Building Maintenanesvies, a wholly owned subsidiary of Vornado, tipesvise (i)
cleaning, engineering and security services atlexington Avenue property and (ii) security sergice our Rego Park |
and Rego Park Il properties, for an annual fedefdost for such services plus 6%.
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3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS — continued
The following is a summary of fees to Vornado untte agreements discussed above, and includes 1$Q0@P of

property management and leasing fees for the yasrdDecember 31, 2012, related to the Kings FRegional Shopping
Center (“Kings Plaza”), which was sold in NovemB8d.2 Eee Note 4 — Discontinued Operatipns

Year Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Company management fees $ 2,800 $ 2,800 $ 2,983
Development fees 3,394 - 438
Leasing fees 1,430 1,126 2,217
Commission on sale of real estate - - 7,510
Property management fees and payments for cleagiineering
and security services 3,658 3,415 4,531
$ 11,282 $ 7,341 $ 17,679

At December 31, 2014, we owed Vornado $3,394,000d&velopment fees and $528,000 for managemenpepso
management and cleaning fees.

4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On November 28, 2012, we completed the sale of KiRtaza located in Brooklyn, New York, to Maceridbr
$751,000,000. Net proceeds from the sale, affgyieg the existing loan and closing costs, weré9$a00,000, of which
$30,000,000 was in Macerich common shares. Tlanial statement gain was $601,976,000, of whicdd#28,000 was
recognized in the fourth quarter of 2012 and thmaiaing $2,348,000 was deferred and will be recogphiupon the
disposition of the Macerich common shares. Podht sale, in November 2012, we acquired the n@nmgir5% interest in
our consolidated subsidiary, the Kings Plaza engtggt joint venture (which was sold with Kings B4, for $7,800,000 in
cash.

On November 30, 2012, our Board of Directors declaa special long-term capital gain dividend of 300 per share,
or $623,178,000 in the aggregate, to distributedkegain resulting from the sale of Kings Plaza.

In accordance with the provisions of ASC 380@pperty, Plant and Equipmenive have reclassified the revenues and
expenses of Kings Plaza to “income from discontho@erations” for all of the periods presented am consolidated
statements of income. The table below sets ftwthiicome from discontinued operations for the yesded December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012.

Year Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Total revenues $ - $ - $ 61,836
Total operating expens®s - - 31,214
- - 30,622
Interest and other income, net 529 2,252 45
Interest and debt expense - - (5,343
Net gain on sa - - 599,62¢
Income from discontinued operations $ 529 $ 2,252 $ 624,952

(1) Includes fees to Vornado of $1,368 for the yearendecember 31, 2012.
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5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we owned 535\&Eerich common shares, which were received in ection
with the sale of Kings Plaza to Macerich. Thesares have an economic cost of $56.05 per shag3®000,000 in the
aggregate. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, divevhlue of these shares were $44,646,000 and533D00,
respectively, based on Macerich’s closing shareepof $83.41 per share and $58.89 per share, tasggc These shares
are included in “marketable securities” on our adigsited balance sheets and are classified asahl@aifor-sale. Available-
for-sale securities are presented at fair value am@alized gains and losses resulting from thekftamarket of these
securities are included in “other comprehensiveoiine.” Other comprehensive income includes unredligains of
$13,124,000 and $316,000 for the years ended DezeBih 2014 and 2013, respectively.

6. MORTGAGES PAYABLE

On February 28, 2014, we completed a $300,000,6fil0ancing of the office portion of 731 Lexingtorvénue. The
interest-only loan is at LIBOR plus 0.95% and measuin March 2017, with four one-year extensionaygi The proceeds
of the new loan and existing cash were used toyréjpa existing loan and closing costs. In conmectiherewith, we
purchased an interest rate cap with a notional atmaf$300,000,000 that caps LIBOR at a rate o%6.0

The following is a summary of outstanding mortgagasgable.

Interest Rate at Balance at December 31,

(Amounts in thousands) Maturity ®  December 31, 201 2014 2013
First mortgages secured by:

Rego Park | shopping center (100% cash Mar. 2015 0.40% $ 78,246 $ 78,246

collateralized)

731 Lexington Avenue, retail sp&2e Jul. 2015 4.93% 320,00C 320,00C

Paramus Oct. 2018 2.90% 68,000 68,000

Rego Park Il shopping cenf®r Nov. 2018 2.02% 266,534 269,49¢€

731 Lexington Avenue, office spé@e Mar. 2021 1.11% 300,00C 314,217

$ 1,032,78C $ 1,049,95¢

(1) Represents the extended maturity where we havenifegeral right to extend.

(2) Inthe event of a substantial casualty, as definpdp $75,000 of this loan may become recoursesto
(3) This loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.85%.

(4) This loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 0.95%.

All of our debt is secured by mortgages and/or gésdof the stock of the subsidiaries holding thapprties. The net
carrying value of real estate collateralizing tlebtdamounted to $706,791,000 at December 31, 2014 .existing financing
documents contain covenants that limit our abityincur additional indebtedness on these promertéed in certain
circumstances, provide for lender approval of tésideases and yield maintenance to prepay thers.ofADecember 31,
2014, the principal repayments for the next fivargeand thereafter are as follows:

(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2015 $ 401,43¢
2016 3,440
2017 3,707
2018 324,194
2019 -
Thereafter 300,00C

We intend to refinance our maturing debt as it coohge.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

ASC 820,Fair Value Measurement and Disclosur@sfines fair value and establishes a frameworknieasuring fair
value. The objective of fair value is to determihe price that would be received upon the saknadisset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between marlarticipants at the measurement date (the exiepr ASC 820
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritinéservable and unobservable inputs used to meé#aiurealue into three
levels: Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) irivactarkets that are accessible at the measuredsatfor assets or
liabilities; Level 2 — observable prices that aasédd on inputs not quoted in active markets, bubborated by market data;
and Level 3 — unobservable inputs that are usedhWttie or no market data is available. The fafue hierarchy gives the
highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowesbpty to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair vauwe utilize valuation
techniques that maximize the use of observableténand minimize the use of unobservable inputhidoeixtent possible as
well as consider counterparty credit risk in owsessment of fair value.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Faalive
Financial assets measured at fair value on ourodidased balance sheets at December 31, 2014 ah@l @thsists of
marketable securities, short-term investments gtmabills classified as available-for-sale) andirsterest rate cap, which

are presented in the table below, based on thest ia the fair value hierarchy. There were nafinial liabilities measured
at fair value at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

As of December 31, 2014

(Amounts in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securities $ 44,646 $ 44,646 $ - $ -
Short-term investments 24,998 24,998 - -
Interest rate cap (included in other asst 11 - 11 -

Total assets $ 69,655 $ 69,644 $ 1 $ -

As of December 31, 2013
(Amounts in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securities $ 31,522 $ 31522 $ - 3 =

Financial Assets and Liabilities not Measured atrRéalue

Financial assets and liabilities that are not mesbkwat fair value on our consolidated balance sheetlude cash
equivalents, mortgages payable and leasing cononssilue to Vornado. Cash equivalents are carriecbst, which
approximates fair value due to their short-termuriiés. The fair value of our mortgages payaldecalculated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows afsth instruments using current risk-adjusted ratedadle to borrowers
with similar credit ratings, which are provided bythird-party specialist. The leasing commissidaos to Vornado are
carried at cost plus interest at variable rateschvapproximate fair value. The fair value of casjuivalents is classified as
Level 1 and the fair value of mortgages payable laading commissions due to Vornado is classifetlevel 2. The table
below summarizes the carrying amounts and fairevafithese financial instruments as of Decembef@14 and 2013.

As of December 31, 2014 As of December 31, 2013
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(Amounts in thousands) Amount Value Amount Value
Assets:

Cash equivalents $ 111,59C $ 111,59C $ 184,79€¢ $ 184,796
Liabilities:

Mortgages payable $ 1,032,78C $ 1,025,00C $ 1,049,95¢ $ 1,072,000

Leasing commissions (included in Amounts due toriddo) - - 42,924 43,000

$ 1,032,78C $ 1,025,00C $ 1,092,88: $ 1,115,000
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8. LEASES

As Lessor

We lease space to tenants in an office buildingiamétail centers. The rental terms range fropragimately 5 to 25
years. The leases provide for the payment of fb@sk rents payable monthly in advance as wekiatbursements of real
estate taxes, insurance and maintenance costsil Rases may also provide for the payment bylélssee of additional
rents based on a percentage of their sales.

Future base rental revenue under these non-caleelpérating leases is as follows:

(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2015 $ 127,877
2016 119,741
2017 121,07¢
2018 121,111
2019 118,537
Thereafter 903,901

These future minimum amounts do not include aduioents based on a percentage of tenants’ seteshe years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, these rents$488:000, $416,000, and $416,000, respectively.

Bloomberg accounted for $91,109,000, $88,164,0@D%86,468,000, or 45% of our total revenues in azfdhe years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respactig other tenant accounted for more than 10%uoftotal revenues
in any of the last three years. If we were to IB&@omberg as a tenant, or if Bloomberg were tbdaibecome unable to
perform its obligations under its lease, it woutlversely affect our results of operations and fomacondition. We receive
and evaluate certain confidential financial infotima and metrics from Bloomberg on a semi-annuaidaln addition, we
access and evaluate financial information regarBile@mberg from private sources, as well as pupliciailable data.

In October 2014, Bloomberg exercised its optiorextend leases that were scheduled to expire in rbleee 2015
covering 188,608 square feet of office space aZ8drLexington Avenue property for a term of 5 yweawe are currently in
negotiations with Bloomberg to determine the rerdse for the extension period.

As Lessee

We are a tenant under a long-term ground leaseuraFloishing property, which expires in 2027 and bae 10-year
extension option. Future lease payments undeoff@sating lease, excluding the extension opticnaa follows:

(Amounts in thousands)

Year Ending December 31, Amount

2015 $ 700
2016 700
2017 792
2018 800
2019 800
Thereafter 5,666

Rent expense was $746,000 in each of the yearsidneleember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
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9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Our Omnibus Stock Plan (the “Plan”) provides foargs of incentive and non-qualified stock optiomstricted stock,
stock appreciation rights, deferred stock unitsSU3") and performance shares, as defined, to tteetdrs, officers and
employees of the Company and Vornado, and any p#érsion or entity as designated by the OmnibuskStan Committee
of our Board of Directors. As of December 31, 20thére were 5,005 DSUs outstanding and 889,73%slveere available
for future grant. We account for all stock-basemmpensation in accordance with ASC 7T&)ympensation — Stock
Compensation

In May 2014, we granted each of the members ofBaard of Directors 212 DSUs with a grant date faitue of
$56,250 per grant, or $394,000 in the aggregatee OSUs entitle the holder to receive shares otoormon stock without
the payment of any consideration. The DSUs vestedediately and accordingly were expensed on thie dagrant, but
the shares of common stock underlying the DSUsataleliverable to the grantee until the granteeoidonger serving on
the Company'’s Board of Directors.

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Insurance

We maintain general liability insurance with lima$ $300,000,000 per occurrence and all-risk prgpand rental value
insurance coverage with limits of $1.7 billion pacurrence, including coverage for acts of terrorisvith sub-limits for
certain perils such as floods and earthquakes cim @zour properties.

Fifty Ninth Street Insurance Company, LLC (“FNSICHur wholly owned consolidated subsidiary, actsaadirect
insurer for coverage for acts of terrorism, inchglhuclear, biological, chemical and radiologicAIECR”) acts, as defined
by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program ReauthtioizaAct, which expires in December 2020. Coverégeacts of
terrorism (including NBCR acts) is up to $1.7 lifii per occurrence and in the aggregate. Coveragacts of terrorism
(excluding NBCR acts) is fully reinsured by thirdrfy insurance companies with no exposure to FNS¥6t NBCR acts,
FNSIC is responsible for a $275,000 deductible H5tb of the balance (16% effective January 1, 2@f&) covered loss,
and the Federal government is responsible forgheming 85% (84% effective January 1, 2016) ofeeced loss. We are
ultimately responsible for any loss incurred by FGLS

We continue to monitor the state of the insuran@eket and the scope and costs of coverage forcddtsrrorism.
However, we cannot anticipate what coverage willabailable on commercially reasonable terms infthare. We are
responsible for deductibles and losses in excessrahsurance coverage, which could be material.

Our mortgage loans are non-recourse to us, exoe#5,000,000 of the $320,000,000 mortgage ometadl portion of
our 731 Lexington Avenue property, in the evena glubstantial casualty, as defined. Our mortgagesl contain customary
covenants requiring us to maintain insurance. Alth we believe that we have adequate insurancrage for purposes of
these agreements, we may not be able to obtaigunadent amount of coverage at reasonable codteifuture. If lenders
insist on greater coverage than we are able targbtaould adversely affect our ability to finanour properties.

Litigation

Rego Park |

On June 24, 2014, Sears Roebuck and Co. (“Sedexd)d lawsuit in the Supreme Court of the Statdlefv York against
Vornado and us (and certain of our subsidiariesh weégard to space that Sears leases at our Reg§d Peoperty. Sears
alleges that the defendants are liable for harmisSeas suffered as a result of (a) water intrusiofts the premises Sears
leases, (b) two fires in February 2014 that cawdsnages to those premises, and (c) alleged viokid the Americans
with Disabilities Act in the premises’ parking ggea Sears asserts various causes of actions foagks and seeks to
compel compliance with landlord’s obligations tgpa@ the premises and to provide security, andotmpel us to abate a
nuisance that Sears claims was a cause of the im&iigsions into its premises. In addition to imjtive relief, Sears seeks,
among other things, damages of not less than $bmind future damages it estimates will not bes lthan $25 million.
We intend to defend the claims vigorously; the ant@u range of reasonably possible losses, if eagnot be estimated.
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10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - continued

Rego Park Il Apartment Tower

We are in the process of constructing an apartrtemér above our Rego Il shopping center, contairBdag units
aggregating 255,000 square feet, which is expettebe completed in 2015. The estimated cost of fioject is
approximately $125,000,000, of which $73,327,009 een incurred as of December 31, 2014. Therdeam assurance
that the project will be completed, or completedsohedule or within budget.

Paramus

In 2001, we leased 30.3 acres of land located mrRas, New Jersey to IKEA Property, Inc. The Idlage a purchase
option in 2021 for $75,000,000. The property istenbered by a $68,000,000 interest-only mortgage leith a fixed rate
of 2.90%, which matures in October 2018. The antiak-net rent is the sum of $700,000 plus theant of debt service
on the mortgage loan. If the purchase option is@sed, we will receive net cash proceeds of apprately $7,000,000 and
recognize a gain on sale of land of approximat@l,$00,000. If the purchase option is not exergitigel triple-net rent for
the last 20 years would include debt service siefficto fully amortize $68,000,000 over the remagn20-year lease term.

Letters of Credit
Approximately $3,308,000 of standby letters of @rectre issued and outstanding as of December(ll4.2

Other
There are various legal actions against us in tbmary course of business. In our opinion, thecome of such matters

will not have a material effect on our financiahdition, results of operations or cash flows.
11. MULTIEMPLOYER BENEFIT PLANS

Our subsidiaries make contributions to certain imoiployer defined benefit plans (“Multiemployer B&m Plans”) and
health plans (“Multiemployer Health Plans”) for ounion represented employees, pursuant to the ctgpecollective

bargaining agreements.

Multiemployer Pension Plans

Multiemployer Pension Plans differ from single-eoy@r pension plans in that (i) contributions to tiewhployer plans
may be used to provide benefits to employees @rqgthrticipating employers and (ii) if other paipiating employers fail to
make their contributions, each of our subsidianes/ be required to bear their pro rata share afing#d obligations. If a
participating subsidiary withdraws from a plan ihigh it participates, it may be subject to a withalal liability. As of
December 31, 2014, our subsidiaries’ participationthese plans were not significant to our constéd financial
statements.

In the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and @Ol 8ubsidiaries contributed $144,000, $138,00D $t06,000,
respectively, towards Multiemployer Pension Plar@®f these amounts, $61,000 in the year ended Demefib, 2012
represent contributions related to discontinuedatpns, which are included as a component of ‘inedrom discontinued
operations” on our consolidated statements of ircor®ur subsidiaries’ contributions did not représmore than 5% of
total employer contributions in any of these plorshe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ang. 201

Multiemployer Health Plans

Multiemployer Health Plans in which our subsidiarigarticipate provide health benefits to eligibtgivee and retired
employees. In the years ended December 31, 2@B and 2012 our subsidiaries contributed $533,8d99,000 and
$734,000, respectively, towards these plans. @$d¢hamounts, $250,000 in the year ended Decembe032 represent
contributions related to discontinued operationdictv are included as a component of “income fromcaintinued
operations” on our consolidated statements of ircom
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation akie and diluted income per share, including anmeitiation of net
income and the number of shares used in computasicband diluted income per share. Basic inconrespare is
determined using the weighted average shares ofmoonstock (including DSUSs) outstanding during tleigd. Diluted
income per share is determined using the weightethge shares of common stock (including DSUs)tanting during the
period, and assumes all potentially dilutive se@siwere converted into common shares at theesadiate possible. There
were no potentially dilutive securities outstandihging the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h2!

For the Year Ended December 31,

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per shavards) 2014 2013 2012
Income from continuing operations $ 67,396 $ 54,663 $ 50,041
Income from discontinued operations, net of incattgbutable to

the noncontrolling interest 529 2,252 624,34¢
Net income attributable to common stockholc— basic and diluted $ 67,925 $ 56,915 $ 674,387
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic amedlil 5,110,62¢ 5,109,05¢ 5,107,61C
Income from continuing operations $ 1319 % 1070 $ 9.80
Income from discontinued operations, net 0.10 0.44 122.24
Net income per common shée basic and diluted $ 13.29 % 11.14 % 132.04

13. SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

Net Income
Attributable to Net Income Per
Common Common Sharé?
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amount: Revenues Stockholders Basic Diluted
2014
December 31 $ 51,286 $ 18,161 $ 355 $ 3.55
September 30 50,077 17,692 3.46 3.46
June 30 49,983 16,828 3.29 3.29
March 31 49,468 15,244 2.98 2.98
2013
December 31 $ 50,496 $ 15,790 $ 3.09 $ 3.09
September 30 49,886 13,824 2.71 2.71
June 30 47,302 13,139 2.57 2.57
March 31 48,775 14,162 2.77 2.77

(1) The total for the year may differ from the sumtod guarters as a result of weighting.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures — Our managemghtthe participation of our Chief Executive @#r and Chief
Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectivengfssur disclosure controls and procedures (as treh is defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exgshdwt of 1934, as amended) as of the end of thegeovered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evanatour Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finandiffficer have
concluded that, as of the end of such period, @alasure controls and procedures are effective.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting — Thervé not been any changes in our internal contrer dinancial
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under teewBities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedhgitine fourth quarter
of the fiscal year to which this report relatestthave materially affected, or are reasonably Jikel materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Alexander’s, Inc., together wihconsolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”), @sponsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal robraver financial reporting. The Company’s intgrrcontrol over
financial reporting is a process designed undesstipervision of the Company’s principal executivel @rincipal financial
officers to provide reasonable assurance regattimgeliability of financial reporting and the pezption of the Company’s
financial statements for external reporting purgdaeaccordance with accounting principles gengidcepted in the United
States of America.

As of December 31, 2014, management conductedsassment of the effectiveness of the Company’sniateontrol
over financial reporting based on the frameworklgiggthed innternal Control — Integrated Framework (201i8sued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremdwommission. Based on this assessment, managemasn
determined that the Company’s internal control dire&ncial reporting as of December 31, 2014 iscff/e.

The Company’s internal control over financial refpay includes policies and procedures that petti@ithe maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accuratety fairly reflect transactions and dispositionsaséets; provide reasonable
assurances that transactions are recorded as apcesspermit preparation of financial statememtsaccordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hBStates of America, and that receipts and expead are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of manageraad the directors of the Company; and providsorable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitexd acquisition, use, or disposition of the Comps assets that could
have a material effect on the Company’s finandetiesnents.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal cortkar financial reporting as of December 31, 2044 Ibeen audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registereblisuaccounting firm, as stated in their report @@gng on page 55 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which expressesiaqualified opinion on the effectiveness of then(pany’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 2114.

54



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Alexander’s, Inc.
Paramus, New Jersey

We have audited the internal control over financggorting of Alexander’s, Inc. and subsidiaridse(tCompany”) as of
December 31, 2014, based on criteria establishethtegrnal Control—Integrated Framework (201%sued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TremdwWommission. The Company’s management is redgentor
maintaining effective internal control over finaakcreporting and for its assessment of the effeaéss of internal control
over financial reporting, included in the accompagyManagement’s Report on Internal Control ovaraRcial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on@uwenpany’s internal control over financial reportiogsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsd of the Public Company Accounting Oversight f8ogUnited
States). Those standards require that we plarparfdrm the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoatathether effective
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all material respects. Our audit includgutaining an
understanding of internal control over financigpoging, assessing the risk that a material weakmassts, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectivenéssternal control based on the assessed risk,p@nfbrming such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the Gtanoes. We believe that our audit provides aoredsie basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvid, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial offiseior persons performing similar functions, aneefd by the company’s
board of directors, management, and other persdongtovide reasonable assurance regarding thabiély of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetméor external purposes in accordance with gelyeagktepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over firtdal reporting includes those policies and procesluhat (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonabldldatzurately and fairly reflect the transacticarsd dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable @sseithat transactions are recorded as necesspeyrtot preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generatlyepted accounting principles, and that receipts expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance withaaizthitions of management and directors of the camypand (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ,usedisposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effethe financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcoinover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or
improper management override of controls, mateniastatements due to error or fraud may not begmtend or detected on
a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluataf the effectiveness of the internal control ofieancial reporting to
future periods are subject to the risk that thetrods may become inadequate because of changemditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fic@l reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the criteria establigménternal Control—Integrated Framework (2018sued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread@ommission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States),
the consolidated financial statements and finarstatement schedules as of and for the year endedriber 31, 2014 of
the Company and our report dated February 17, 2psessed an unqualified opinion on those finarstalements and
financial statement schedules.
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 17, 2015
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information relating to our directors, including roaudit committee and audit committee financial expwill be
contained in a definitive Proxy Statement involvihg election of directors pursuant to RegulatidA Linder the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We will fileRnexy Statement with the Securities and Exchangar@ission no later
than 120 days after December 31, 2014. Such irstom is incorporated by reference herein. Alsmiporated herein by
reference is the information under the caption t®ecl6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compli@hof the Proxy
Statement.

The following is a list of the names, ages, priatipccupations and positions with us of our exeeutfficers and the
positions held by such officers during the past fjears.

PRINCIPAL OCCUPATION, POSITION AND OFFICE
Name Age (Current and during past five years with the Compary unless otherwise stated)

Steven Roth 73 Chairman of the Board since May 2004 and Chief Btiee Officer since March 199
Chairman of the Board of Vornado Realty Trust sifday 1989; Chief Executi
Officer of Vornado Realty Trust since April 2013daftom May 1989 to May 2009;
Trustee of Vornado Realty Trust since 1979; and &§amg General Parer o
Interstate Properties.

Joseph Macnow 69 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offisence June 2002; Executive V
President -Finance and Chief Administrative Officer of Vorna@ealty Trust sinc
June 2013; Executive Vice PresidenfFirance and Administration of Vornado Re
Trust from January 1998 to June 2013; and Chieériral Officer of Vornado Real
Trust from March 2001 to June 2013.

We have a code of business conduct and ethicafmpdies to, among others, our Chief Executive @ffiand Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Theleds posted on our website at www.alx-inc.com. ik¢end to satisfy our
disclosure obligation regarding amendments and avaivof this code applicable to our Chief Execut®#icer and
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offibg posting such information on our website.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information relating to executive compensation wi#k contained in the Proxy Statement referred tdltem 10.
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goveced of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such mmhation is

incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

Information relating to security ownership of cémtheneficial owners and management and relatezkistdder matters,
except as set forth below, will be contained inBnexy Statement referred to in “Item 10. DirestdExecutive Officers and
Corporate Governance” of this Annual Report on F&0¥K. Such information is incorporated by refaemerein.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of Dad®er 31, 2014, regarding our equity compensation.

(@)

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in

Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by securityérsld 5,005 $ = 889,73E
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechatglers N/A N/A N/A
Total 5,005 $ 889,735
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

Information relating to certain relationships amdated transactions and director independencebwiltontained in the
Proxy Statement referred to in “Item 10. Directdtgecutive Officers and Corporate Governance’hed Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Such information is incorporated byerehce herein.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Information relating to principal accounting feesdaservices will be contained in the Proxy Statemeferred to in

“Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corater Governance” of this Annual Report on Form 1090ch information
is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

@ The following documents are filed as part @ tinnual Report on Form 10-K.

1. The consolidated financial statements are s#t fo Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. The following financial statement schedules $thdne read in conjunction with the financial sta&ats included
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Pages in this
Annual Report
on Form 10-K
Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accountseass ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 60
Schedule Ill — Real Estate and Accumulated Deptiecias of
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 61

All other financial statement schedules are omittecause they are not applicable, not required, or
the information is included elsewhere in the codsdéd financial statements or the notes thereto.

3. The following exhibits listed on the Exhibit Exi which is incorporated herein by reference, fiaed with this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit

No.

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

12

21

23

311
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS

101.SCF
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Fourth Amendment to Real Estate Retention Agreendated December 22, 2014 by
between Alexander's, Inc. and Vornado Realty, L.P.

Second Amendment to 59th Street Real Estate ReteAtjreement, dated December
2014 byand between 731 Retail One LLC, 731 Restaurant 1131, Office Two LLC an
Vornado Realty, L.P.

First Amendment to Rego Il Real Estate Remtention Agreement, dated Decembel
2014 by and between Alexander's, Inc. and VornagmtRL.P.

First Amendment to Real-Estate SRetention Agreement, dated December 22, 2014 b
between Alexander's Management LLC and VornadotRdaP.

Computation of Ratios

Subsidiaries of Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executéicer
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financificer
Section 1350 Certification of the Chief ExecutivEicr
Section 1350 Certification of the Chief FinancidfiCer
XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usideed, thereunto duly authorized.

ALEXANDER'S, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: February 17, 2015 By: /s/ Joseph Macnow
Joseph Macnow, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the @ipa and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
By: /s/Steven Roth Chairman of the Board of Directors and February 17, 2015
(Steven Roth) Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
By: /s/Joseph Macnow Executive Vice President and February 17, 2015
(Joseph Macnow) Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
February 17, 2015
By: /s/Thomas R. DiBenedetto Director
(Thomas R. DiBenedetto)

February 17, 2015
By: /s/David Mandelbaum Director
(David Mandelbaum)

February 17, 2015
By: /s/Arthur Sonnenblick Director
(Arthur Sonnenblick)

February 17, 2015
By: /s/Neil Underberg Director
(Neil Underberg)

February 17, 2015
By: /s/Richard R. West Director
(Richard R. West)

February 17, 2015
By: /s/Russell B. Wight Jr. Director
(Russell B. Wight Jr)
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ALEXANDER'’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE Il
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(Amounts in thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Additions: Deductions:
Balance at Charged Uncollectible Balance
Beginning Against Accounts at End
Description of Year Operations ~ Written Off of Year

Allowance for doubtful accoun

Year Ended December 31, 2014 $ 1,993 $ 705 $ (1,154 $ 1,544
Year Ended December 31, 2013 $ 2219 $ 348 $ (574 % 1,993
Year Ended December 31, 2012 $ 1,039 $ 1,304 $ (124 % 2,219
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ALEXANDER'’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIA TION

DECEMBER 31, 2014
(Amounts in thousands)

COLUMN A COLUMN B COLUMN C COLUMN D COLUMN E COLUMN F COLUMN G COLUMN H COLUMN |
Gross Amount at Which
Initial Cost to Company® Carried at Close of Period Depreciation
Building, Costs Building, Accumulated in Latest
Leaseholds Capitalized Leaseholds Depreciation Income
and Leasehold Subsequent and Leasehold  Construction and Date of Date Statement
Description Encumbrances Land Improvements to Acquisition Land Improvements In Progress Total® Amortization Construction Acquired® is Computed
New York, NY
Rego Park | $ 78,246 $ 1,647 $ 8,953 $ 50,553 $ 1,647 $ 59,370 $ 136 $ 61,153 $ 27,569 1959 1992 3-39 years
Rego Park II:
Retail 266,534 3,127 1,467 384,92€ 3,127 386,26C 133 389,52( 52,747 2009 1992 3-40 years
Residential - - - 73,327 - - 73,327 73,327 - N/A 1992 N/A
Rego Park Il - 779 - 2,196 779 503 1,693 2,975 120 N/A 1992 5-15 years
Flushing - - 1,660 (107, - 1,553 - 1,553 791 1975 1992 N/A
Lexington Avenue 620,00C 14,432 12,355 426,691 27,497 425,981 - 453,47¢ 128,79€ 2003 1992 9-39 years
Paramus, NJ 68,000 1,441 - 10,313 11,754 - - 11,754 - N/A 1992 N/A
Other Properties - 167 1,804 (1,804 167 - - 167 - N/A 1992 N/A
TOTAL $ 1,032,78(C $ 21,593 $ 26,239 $ 946,095 $ 44,971 $ 873,667 $ 75,289 $ 993,927 $ 210,02

(1) Initial cost is as of May 15, 1992 (the date onchiithe Company commenced its real estate operations
(2) The net basis of the Company’s assets and ligsilftr tax purposes is approximately $204,815 Idivan the amount reported for financial statememnp@ses.
(3) Represents the date the lease was acquired.
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ALEXANDER'’S, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE Il REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIA TION

(Amounts in thousands)

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
REAL ESTATE:
Balance at beginning of period $ 919,57¢ $ 911,792 $ 906,907
Additions during the period:
Land - - -
Buildings and leasehold improvements 4,043 5,072 3,776
Development and construction in progress 70,365 2,712 1,109
993,984 919,57€ 911,792
Less: Fully depreciated assets (57, - -
Balance at end of period $ 993,927 $ 919,57€¢ $ 911,792
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION:
Balance at beginning of period $ 185,37t $ 160,82€ $ 136,46(
Additions charged to operating expenses 24,707 24,549 24,366
210,082 185,37¢ 160,82€
Less: Fully depreciated assets (57, - -
Balance at end of period $ 210,02t $ 185,37t $ 160,82€
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Exhibit

No.

3.1

3.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

EXHIBIT INDEX

Amended and Restated Certificate ofdrgoration. Incorporated herein by reference fraxhikit 3.1 tc
the registrant’s Registration Statement on Formfif8 on September 20, 1995

By-laws, as amended. Incorporated herein by reterdrom Exhibit 3(ii) to the registrés Quarterh
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Marc2800

Real Estate Retention Agreement dated as of Juhyl202, between Vornado Realty Trust and }
Realty Consultants, Inc., each as special realeestmsultargt, and the Company. Incorporated herei
reference from Exhibit 10(i)(O) to the registran®anual Report on Form 1R-for the fiscal year end:
July 25, 1992

Extension Agreement to the Real Estate Retentioe&wgent, dated ag Bebruary 6, 1995, between
Company and Vornado Realty Trust. Incorporatedindng reference from Exhibit 10(i)(G)(2) to
registrant’s Annual Report Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 1994

Agreement of Lease dated @sApril 30, 2001 between Seven Thirty One Limitedrtnership, landlor
and Bloomberg L.P., tenant. Incorporated hereirrdfgrence from Exhibit 10(v) B to the registra
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter endlate 30, 2001, filed on August 2, 2001

Lease dated as of October 2, 2001 by and betweex éfLParamus LLC, as Landlord, and IK
Property, Inc. as Tenant. Incorporated herein ligreace from Exhibit 10(v)(C)(4) to the registra
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddzmm31, 2001, filed on March 13, 2002

First Amendment to Real Estate Retention Agreemdated as of July 3, 2002, by and betv
Alexander’s, Inc. and Vornado Realty, L.P. Incogied herein by referenceofn Exhibit 10(i)(E)(3) t
the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form QCor the quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed onusu@
2002

59th Street Real Estate Retention Agreement, dagenf July 3, 2002, by and between Vornado s
L.P., 731 Residential LLC and 731 Commercial LL@cdrporated herein by reference from Exi
10(i)(E)(4) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report eorm 10Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002,
on August 7, 2002

Amended ad Restated Management and Development Agreemetad @es of July 3, 2002, by &
between Alexander’s, Inc., the subsidiaries pargréto and Vornado Management Corp. Incorpo
herein by reference from Exhibit 10(i)(F)(1) to tregistrant’'s Quarterly Report on Form Q0for the
quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed on August 72200

Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of I7Residential LLC, dated as of July 3, 2(
among 731 Residential Holding LLC, as the sole memBbomeit A. Borriello, as an Independe
Manager and Kim Lutthang, as an Independent Mandgeorporated herein by reference from Exi
10(i)(A)(1) to the registrant’'s Quarterly Report Barm 106 for the quarter ended June 30, 2002,
on August 7, 2002

Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of I7&ommercial LLC, dated as of July 3, 2(
among 731 Commercial Holding LLC, as the sole membemenic A. Borriello, as an Indepenc
Manager and Kim Lutthang, as an Independent Mamndgcorporated herein by reference from Ex
10(i)(A)(2) to the registrant’'s Quarterly Report Barm 106 for the quarter ended June 30, 2002,
on August 7, 2002

Incorporated by reference.
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10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

*%

*%

*%

*%

Reimbusement Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2002, bybatwleen Alexander’s, Inc., 731 Commer
LLC, 731 Residential LLC and Vornado Realty, L.Rcdrporated herein by reference from Exl
10(i)(C)(8) to the registrant’s Quarterly Report Borm 10-Q for he quarter ended June 30, 2002,
on August 7, 2002

First Amendment of Lease, dated as of April 19,208etween Seven Thirty One Limited Partner:
landlord and Bloomberg L.P., tenant. Incorporateceim by reference fromxibit 10(v)(B)(2) to th
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form @Q0for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2002, filrdAugust 7
2002

Loan Agreement dated as of July 6, 2005, betweeh Ré&tail One LLC, as Borrower and Arct
Financial, as Lender. Incorporated herein by refexeinom Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Curt
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 12, 2005

Form of Stock Option Agreement between the Companty certain employees. Incorporatedeiie by
reference from Exhibit 10.61 to the registrant'sa@Qerly Report on Form 1Q- for the quarter end
September 30, 2005, filed on October 27, 2005

Form of Restricted Stock Option Agreement betwédenQompany and certain pfoyees. Incorporat
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.62 to the regist’s Quarterly Report on Form ID+or the quarte
ended September 30, 2005, filed on October 27, 2005

Registrant’s 2006 Omnibus Stock Plan dated Aprik@06. Incorporated herein by reference 1
Annex B to Schedule 14A, filed by the registrantAgril 28, 2006

Second Amendment to Real Estate Retention Agreerdated as of January 1, 2007, by and bet
Alexander’s, Inc. and/ornado Realty L.P. Incorporated herein by refeeefrom Exhibit 10.64 to ti
registrant’s Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ended December 31, 2006, filed obriary 26
2007

Amendment to 59th Street Real Estate Reterdgneement, dated as of January 1, 2007, by andg
Vornado Realty L.P., 731 Retail One LLC, 731 RestatiLLC, 731 Office One LLC and 731 Off
Two LLC. Incorporated herein by reference from bith10.65 to the registrant’'s Annual Report
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 200&d filn February 26, 2007

First Amendment to Amended and Restated ManagearehDevelopment Agreement, dated as of
6, 2005, by and between Alexander’s, Inc., the islidrges party thexto and Vornado Management Ci
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10t&2he registrant’s Annual Report on FormK Ofor
the year ended December 31, 2007, filed on Febr2Gr2008

Second Amendment to Amended andstaeed Management and Development Agreement, Gestex
December 20, 2007, by and between Alexander’s, lthe@ subsidiaries party thereto and Vorr
Management Corp. Incorporated herein by referdnma Exhibit 10.53 to the registrant's Ann
Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended DecemtefB07, filed on February 25, 2008

Third Amendment to Real Estate Retention Agreemdaied as of December 20, 2007, by and bet
Alexander’s, Inc., and Vornado Realty L.P. Incogied herein by reference from Exhibit 10.55 to
registrant’s Annual Report on Form K)-for the year ended December 31, 2007, filedcebruary 2¢
2008

Loan Agreement dated as of March 10, 2009 betwdexafider's Rego Park Shopping Center Inc.,
Borrower and U.S. Bank National Association, asdegn Incorporated herein by reference from Ex}
10.55 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on fo+Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed ory
4, 2009

Incorporated by reference.
Management contract or compensatory agreement.
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10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

*%

*%

Amended and Restated Mortgage, Security Agreerfietitjre Filing and Assignment of Leases and
Rentals by and between Alexander’'s Rego Shoppimge€enc. as Borrower and U.S. Bank National
Association as Lender, dated as of March 10, 200€orporated herein by reference from Exhibit 80.
to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on for 10-@tfee quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed on May 4,
2009

Amended and Restated Promissory Note dated as ofhMED, 2009, by Alexander's Rego Shop)
Center Inc., in favor of U.S. Bank National Assdicia. Incorporated herein by reference from EX
10.57 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on 0+ for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed ory
4, 2009

Cash Pledge Agreement dated as of March 10, 26@euted by Alexander's Rego Shopping Center
to and for the benefit of U.S. Bank National Asatioin. Incorporated herein by reference from Ext
10.58 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on 0+ for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, filed ory
4, 2009

Lease dated as of February 7, 2005, by and betW8&nOffice One LLC, & Landlord, and Citiban
N.A., as Tenant. Incorporated herein by referdrmm Exhibit 10.59 to the registrant’s Quarterlye
on for 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 200&d fon May 4, 2009

Assignment and Assumption &diConsent Agreement, dated as of March 25, 200%ndybetween 7:
Office One LLC, as Landlord, Citicorp North Amerjctnc., as Assignor, and Bloomberg L.P.
Assignee. Incorporated herein by reference fromiliix 10.60 to the registrant’s QuartetiReport ol
form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008dfibn May 4, 2009

Form of Alexander’s, Inc. 2006 Ominibus Stock PRaeferred Stock Unit Agreement. Incorporz:
herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the regigteaCurrent Report on Form 8-K, filed on June @12

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated ManageraedtDevelopment Agreement, dated a
November 30, 2011, by and between Alexander’s,, Itte subsidiaries party thereto and \adc
Management Corp. Incorporated herein by referémee Exhibit 10.49 to the registrant’'s Annual Ref
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 20d&tl, on February 27, 2012

Loan and Security Agreement, dated November 8a12by and between Rego Il Borrower LLC
Borrower, and the Lender. Incorporated hereindfgrence from Exhibit 10.50 to the registrant’s Aal
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeR@11, filed on February 27, 2012

Consolidated, Amended and Restated Promissory Mated November 30, 2011, by and between
Il Borrower LLC, as Maker, and the Lender. Incagied herein by reference from Exhibit 10.51 tc
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2011, filed on February
2012

Consolidated, Amended and Restated Mortgage, Asmgh of Leases and Rents and Sec
Agreement, dated November 30, 2011, by and betvrsgo Il Borrower LLC, as Mortgagor, and
Mortgagee. Incorporated herein by reference from EkHiBi52 to the registrant’'s Annual Report
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014d fiin February 27, 2012

Guarantee of Recourse Carveouts, dated Novembe2(0dd, by Alexader’s, Inc., as Guarantor, to ¢
for the benefit of the Lender. Incorporated herejnreference from Exhibit 10.53 to the registrg
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddumm31, 2011, filed on February 27, 2012

Environnental Indemnity Agreement, dated November 30, 2Giipng Rego Il Borrower LLC a
Alexander’s, Inc., individually or collectively dademnitor, in favor of the Lender. Incorporatestdir
by reference from Exhibit 10.54 to the registramdsnual Report on Form 1R-for the year ende
December 31, 2011, filed on February 27, 2012

Incorporated by reference.
Management contract or compensatory agreement.
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10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

*%k

*%

First Omnibus Loan Modification and Exteosi Agreement dated March 12, 2012 by and bet
Alexander’s Rego Shopping Center, Inc., as Borroavet U.S. Bank National Association, as Ler
Incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10t&3he registrant’s Quarterly Report on FormQ
for the quarter ended March 31, 2012, filed on Mag012

Mortgage Modification Agreement dated March 12,20% and between Alexander’'s Rego Shoppir
Center, Inc., as Mortgagor and U.S. Bank Natiorgdokiation, as Mortgagee. Incorporated herein |
reference from Exhibit 10.56 to the registrant’saQerly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2012, filed on May 7, 2012.

First Amendment and Modification of Loan and SetyuAgreement and Other Loan Documertdate(
as of June 20, 2012 by and between Rego Il Borrduv€, as Borrower, and the Lender. Incorpor
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the regist's Quarterly Report on Form IDfor the quarte
ended June 30, 2012, filed on August 6, 2012

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated ManageamehiDevelopment Agreement, dated ¢
August 1, 2012, by and between Alexander’s, Inbe subsidiaries party thereto and Vorr
Management Corp. Incorporated herein by referdnm® Exhibit 10.2 to the registrants Quart
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended SepteB®e?012, filed on November 1, 2012

Contribution Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructiodated as of October 21, 2012, by and bet
Alexander’s Kings Plaza LLC, Alexander’s of Kingh@ and Kings Parking LLC, and Brooklyn Kir
Plaza LLC

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated ManagemedtDevelopment Agreement, dated a
December 1, 2012, by and between Alaexrs, Inc., the subsidiaries party thereto and nédc
Management Corp

Second Omnibus Loan Modification and Extension A&grent, dated March 8, 2013, by and bet\
Alexander’s Rego Shopping Center, Inc., as Borroavet U.S. Bank Nainal Association, as Lend
Incorporated herein by reference from exhibit 1@.3he registrant's Quarterly Report on FormQ|
filed on May 6, 2013

Second Mortgage Modification Agreement, dated Ma8¢h2013, by and between AlexandeReg¢
Shopping Center, Inc., as Mortgator and U.S. Baakiddal Association, as Mortgagee. Incorpor
herein by reference from exhibit 10.4 to the regists Quarterly Report on Form 1D-filed on May €
2013

Form of Alexandés, Inc. 2006 Omnibus Stock Plan Deferred Stock tUGrant Agreemer
Incorporated herein by reference from exhibit 1a&%he registrant’'s Annual Report on FormK@er
the year ended December 31, 2013, filed on Febr2&rg014

Seond Amendment and Modification of Loan Agreemend &ther Loan Documents and Ratifica:
of Guarantor, dated November 15, 2013, by and batvwwego Il Borrower LLC, as Borrower, and
Lender. Incorporated herein by reference from l@xHi0.60 to theegistrant’'s Annual Report on Fo
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, filedFebruary 24, 2014

Partial Release of Mortgage, dated November 1532B% and between Rego Il Borrower LLC,
Mortgagor, and the Mortgagee. Incorgted herein by reference from exhibit 10.61 torémgistrant’:
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddzmm31, 2013, filed on February 24, 2014

Incorporated by reference.
Management contract or compensatory agreement.
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10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

Partial Release of Assignment of Leases and Rdated November 15, 2013, by and between Re
Borrower LLC, as Assignor, and the Assignee. Ipooated herein by reference from exhibit 10.€
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form K(fer the year ended December 31, 2013, filed olorérry
24,2014

Loan Agreement, date as of February 28, 2014, bybatween 731 Office One LLC, as Borrower,
German American Capital Corporati@s Lender. Incorporated herein by reference freinibé 10.1 tc
the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Qedibn May 5, 2014

Consolidated, Amended and Restated Promissory Mated as of February 28, 2014, by and bet
7310ffice One LLC, as Borrower, and German Americapi@& Corporation, as Lender. Incorpore
herein by reference from exhibit 10.2 to the regists Quarterly Report on Form 1D-filed on May £
2014

Amended and Restated Mortgagessfgnment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreehaied as
February 28, 2014, by and between 731 Office On€,ldas Mortgagor, and German American Ca
Corporation, as Mortgagee. Incorporated hereinrdfgrence from exhibit 10.3 to the regisit'a
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 5, 2014

Assignment of Leases and Rents dated as of Feb28ar3014, by and between 731 Office One LL(
Assignor, and German American Capital Corporates,Assignee. Incorporated Ber by referenc
from exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repon Form 10-Q, filed on May 5, 2014

Guaranty of Recourse Obligations dated as of Fepr2®, 2014, by and between Alexander’s, Inc
Guarantor, and German Americ&apital Corporation, as Lender. Incorporated Imetsi referenc
from exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repon Form 10-Q, filed on May 5, 2014

Environmental Indemnity Agreement dated as of Fafy28, 2014, by and betweeB17 Office Oni
LLC, as Indemnitor, and German American Capitalgdoation, as Indemnitee. Incorporated herei
reference from exhibit 10.6 to the registrant’s @erdy Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 5, 2014

Termination Agreement ¢ied as of February 28, 2014, by and among 731 ©€@ine LLC, Alexander
Management LLC, Vornado Realty L.P., 731 Office TdC, 731 Residential LLC, 731 Commeri
LLC, 731 Retail One LLC and 731 Restaurant LLCcdrporated herein by reference fronhisit 10.7
to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 1(#@d on May 5, 2014

Real Estate SuBetention Agreement dated as of February 28, 28%4and between Alexande
Managegment LLC, as Agent, and Vornado Realty la® Sub-Agnt. Incorporated herein by refere
from exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s Quarterly Repon Form 10-Q, filed on May 5, 2014

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated ManageamhtDevelopment Agreement, dated a
March 21, 2014, byand between Alexander’s, Inc., the subsidiariestypéinereto and Vornar
Management Corp. Incorporated herein by referdrmm exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’'s Quarte
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 5, 2014

Incorporated by reference.
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10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

12

21

23

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Rego Park Il Residential Management and Developragrtement, dated as of March 21, 2014 by
between Alexander’s of Rego Residential LLC andnaoio Management Corp. Incorporated here
reference from exhibit 10.10 to the registrant'sa€erly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 5, 2014

Fourth Amendment to Real Estate Retention Agreemaated December 22, 2014 by and bet
Alexander's, Inc. and Vornado Realty, L.P.

Second Amendmerib 59th Street Real Estate Retention AgreemengddBecember 22, 2014 by ¢
between 731 Retail One LLC, 731 Restaurant LLC, @ffice Two LLC and Vornado Realty, L.P.

First Amendment to Rego Il Real Estate Sub-Rerdantigreement, dad December 22, 2014 by ¢
between Alexander's, Inc. and Vornado Realty L.P.

First Amendment to Real-Estate SRbtention Agreement, dated December 22, 2014 bybeihdee
Alexander's Management LLC and Vornado Realty, L.P.

Computation of Ratios

Subsidiaries of Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
Rule 13a-14 (a) Certification of the Chief Execat®fficer
Rule 13a-14 (a) Certification of the Chief Finahcficer
Section 1350 Certification of the Chief ExecutivBi€r
Section 1350 Certification of the Chief FinancidfiCer

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Incorporated by reference.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors

Steven Roth
Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Vornado Realty
Trust; Partner, Interstate Properties

Thomas R. DiBenedefto
President, Boston International
Junction Investors Ltd.

Group, Inc. and

David Mandelbaum

A member of the law firm of Mandelbaum &
Mandelbaum, P.C.; Partner,
Trustee, Vornado Realty Trust

Wendy A. Silverstein

Former Executive Vice President —

Co-Head of Acquisitions and Captial Markets,
Vornado Realty Trust

Arthur I. Sonnenblick
Former Senior Managing Director of Cushman &
Wakefield Sonnenblick Goldman

Neil Underberg
Partner in the law firm of Rosenberg & Estis, P.C.

Dr. Richard R. West
Dean Emeritus, Leonard N. Stern School of Business,
New York University; Trustee, Vornado Realty Trust

Russell B. Wight, Jr.
Partner, Interstate Properties; Trustee, VornadaltiRe
Trust

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders of Alexander’s,
Inc., will be held at 10:00 A.M. on Thursday, Ma¥, 2
2015 at the Saddle Brook Marriott, Interstate 86 e

Garden State Parkway, Saddle Brook, New Jersey,

07663.

"Member of the Audit Committee

Interstate Properties;

Officers

Steven Roth
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Joseph Macnow
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

Company Data

Executive Offices
210 Route 4 East
Paramus, New Jersey 07652

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Parsippany, New Jersey

Counsel
Shearman & Sterling LLP
New York, New York

Transfer Agent and Registrar
American Stock

Transfer & Trust Co.

New York, New York

Management Certifications

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer provided certifications to the
Securities and Exchange Commission as required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
these certifications are included in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014. In addition, as required by
Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) Listed Company Manual, on June 6, 2014,
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer submitted to
the NYSE the annual CEO certification regarding the
Company’s compliance with the NYSE's corporate
governance listing standards.

Report on Form 10-K

Stockholders may obtain a copy of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission free of charge
(except for exhibits) by writing to the Secretary,
Alexander’s, Inc., 888 Seventh Avenue, New York,
New York, 10019 or by visiting the Company’s
website atwww.alx-inc.com and referring to the
Company’s SEC Filings.

Stock Listing
New York Stock Exchange — ALX



